
Narragansett Financial Corporation

March 29, 2022

Federal Reserve Bank of Boston

600 Atlantic Avenue

Boston, MA 02210-2204

Dear Sir or Madam:

Enclosed is the Y-6 and supporting schedules for Narragansett Financial Corporation and
subsidiaries including the corporate structure organization chart, organizational chart and
Director and Officers Report.

The Annual Report and Independent Auditor's Report to the Audit Committee are enclosed, a
management letter was not issued.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at (508) 675-4346.

Sincerely,

';'- P'3-
Marie Pellegrino
Senior Vice President and CFO

BayCoast Bank

p.o. Box 1311

Fall River, MA 02722-1311
508-678-7641
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Board of Governors of the Federal Reseive System

.J'fs:

Report at the close of business as of the end of fiscal year

This Report is required by Iaw: Section 5(c)(1)(A) of the Bank
Holding Company Act (12 u.s.c. § 1844(c%1)(A))? sections 8(a)
and 13(a) of the International Banking Act (12 u.s.c. §§ 3106(a)
and 3108(a))? sections 11(a)(1), 25, and 25A of the Federal
Reserve Act (12 u.s.c. §§ 248(a)(1), 602, and 611a)? and sec-
tions 113, 165, 312, 618, and 809 of the Dodd-FrankAct (12 u.s.c.
§§ 5361 , 5365, 5412, l850a(c)(1), and 5468(b)(1)). Return to the
appropriate Federal Reserve Bank the original and the number of
copies specified.

This report form is to be filed by all top-tier bank holding compa-
nies, top-tier savings and Ioan holding companies, and u.s. inter-
mediate holding companies organized under u.s. law, and by
any foreign banking organization that does not meet the require-
ments of and is not treated as a qualifying foreign banking orga-
nization under Section 211.23 of Regulation K (12 C.F.R. §
211 .23). (See page one of the general instructions for more detail
of who must file.) The Federal Reserve may not conduct or spon-
sor, and an organization (or a person) is not required to respond
to, an information collection unless it displays a currently valid
OMB control number.

NOTE: The Annual Report of Holding Companies must be signed by
one director of the top-tier holding company. This individual should
also be a senior official of the topftier holding company. In the event
that the top-tier holding company does not have an individual who is
a senior official and is also a director, the chairman of the board must
sign the report. If the holding company is an ESOP/ESOT formed as
a corporation or is an LLC, see the General Instructions for the
authorized individual who must sign the repork.
1, Nicholas M. Christ

Name of the Holding Company Diredor and Official

President, CEO and Trustee
Title of !he Holding Company [)iredor and Official

attest that the Annual Report of Holding Companies (including
the supporting attachments) for this report date has been pre-
pared in conformance with the instructions issued by the Federal
Reserve System and are true and correct to the best of my
knowledge and belief.

With respect to information regarding individuals contained in this
report, the Reporter certifies that it has the authority to provide this
information to the Federal Reserte. The Reporter also certifies
that it has the authority, on behalf of each individual, to consent or
object to public release of information regarding that individual.
The Federal Reserve may assume, in the absence of a request for
confidential treatment submitted in accordance with the Board's

"Rules Regaming Availability of lffirmation," 12 C.ER. Part 261,
that the Reporter and. indivi% cl>nsent to public release of a//
details in they.eport'e report c iii)

ing'?'pjn;-k)k tora dIF abd Offic;lSigna(ure of Holdin?

'2..:L
Date of Signature / 7"

Date of Report (top-tier holding company's fiscal year-end):

December 31, 2021
Momh I Day / Year

N/A

Reporier's Legal Emity Iden(ifier (LEI) (20-Charader LEI Code)

Reporter's Name, Street, and Mailing Address

Narragansett Financial Corp.

Legal Title of Holding Company

330 Swansea Mall Drive

(Mailing Address of the Holding Company) Street l p.o. Box

Swansea Massachusetts 02777

City Sta}e ZipCode

Physical Location (if differem from mailing address)

Person to whom questions about this report should be directed:
Marie Pellegrino SVP & CFO

Name Title

508-675-4346

Area Code / Phone Number / Extension

508-675-4343

Area Code / FAX Number

mpellegrino@baycoastbank.com
E-mail Address

www.baycoast.bank
Address (URL) for !he Holding Company's web page

Public repor(ing burden for this info+ma(ion collec}ion is es}imated to vary from 1 .3 to lot hours per response, with an averaqe of 5.50 hours per response, including }ime }o ga}her and
main}ain da}a in the requked form and to review ins}ructions and complete lhe infomiaiion collection. Send comrnems regarding }his burden esiima}e ot any o}her aspect of }his collection of
informa}ion, including suggestions for reducing }his burden }o: Secrekary, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 20}h and C S(reets, NW, Washington, DC 20551 , and to }he
Office of Managemen( and Budge(, Paperwork Reduc}ion Prqjec} (7100-0297). Washing(on. DC 20503. 12/2019

For holding companies not registered with the SEC-
Indicate status of Annual Repor( to Shareholders:

€ is included with the FR Y-6 report
€ will be sent under separate COVer
€ is not prepared

For Federal Reserve Bank Use Only

RSSD ID

C.I.

ls confidential treatment requested for any portion of
this report submission? .. .. . . ......... . ........ ....... .... .

In accordance with the General lnstrudions for this report
(check only one),

1 . a Ietter justifying this request is being provided alor
with the repork...........................................

2. a Ietter justifying this request has been provided se

NOTE: Information for which confidential treatment is beir

must be provided separately and labeled
as "confidential."

Q
Mn
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For Use By Tiered Holding Companies
Top-tiered holding companies must list the names, mailing address, and physical locations of each of their subsidiary holding companies
below

BayCoast Bank
Legal Title of Subsidiary Holding Company

330 Swansea Mall Drive

(Mailing Address of the Subsidiary Holding Company) S}ree( / p.o. Box

Swansea
Massachusetts 02777

City Siate ZipCode

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

Legal Title of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of the Subsidiary Holding Company) Street / p.o. Box

El
City State ZipCode

Physical Location (if differem from mailing address)

Legal Title of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of the Subsidiary Holding Company) S(reet / p.o. Box

El
City State Zip Code

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

Legal Title of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of the Subsidiary Holding Company) Street / p.o. Box

El
City State Zip Code

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

Legal Title of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of the Subsidiary Holding Company) St+eet l p.o. Box

El
City S}a(e ZipCode

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

Legal 'ntle of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of the Subsidiary Holding Company) Streei / p.o. Box

El
city Staie Zip Code

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

Legal Tiile of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of }he Subsidiary Holding Company) Street / p.o. Box

El
City State ZipCode

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

Legal Title of Subsidiary Holding Company

(Mailing Address of (he Subsidiary Holding Company) Street / p.o. Box

El
city State Zip Code

Physical Location (if different from mailing address)

12/2012



Report Item 2a.
Narragansett Financial Corp.

Corporate Structure Chart
    December 31, 2021

BCBOZ - Opportunity Zone Fund MSC - Massachusetts Security Corporation

Note: LEI not applicable unless otherwise noted

100% - Subsidiary 80% - General Partner 100% - Single Member LLC 100% - Single Member LLC
1851 Corporation Plimoth Trust Company, LLC

Swansea, Massachusetts

Narragansett Financial Corp.

B.F.R. Corp.

Incorporated in Massachusetts

100%

BayCoast Bank

Swansea, Massachusetts
Incorporated in Massachusetts

100% - Subsidiary (MSC)

BayCoast Mortgage Company, LLC BayCoast Financial Services, LLC Troy Security Corporation

LEI # 549300OTLWFQPOOSC346

100% - Single Member LLC
Priority Funding, LLC

100% - Subsidiary (MSC)

Incorporated in Massachusetts

Swansea, Massachusetts Plymouth, Massachusetts Swansea, Massachusetts Swansea, Massachusetts Swansea, Massachusetts

Swansea, Massachusetts

Incorporated in Massachusetts Organized as a Maine LLC Organized as a Massachusetts LLC Organized as a Massachusetts LLC Incorporated in Massachusetts

100% - Single Member LLC
Partners Insurance Group, LLC

Northboro, Massachusetts
Organized as a Massachusetts LLC

Incorporated in Massachusetts

100% - Single Member LLC
Team Work Mortgage LLC
Swansea, Massachusetts

Organized as a Delaware LLC
Swansea, Massachusetts

Organized as a Delaware LLC

100% - Single Member LLC
BCBOZ Investments, LLC
Swansea, Massachusetts
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Trustees Executive Committee Audit Committee
Richard K. Gunther - Chairperson Richard K. Gunther - Chairperson Maria Aguiar - Chairperson
Nicholas M. Christ David N. Kelley, II Nicholas M. Christ Kenneth D. Furtado
Maria Aguiar Steven W. Kenyon Ronald J. Lowenstein Mary Louise Nunes
Lawrence R. Walsh Ronald J. Lowenstein Lawrence R. Walsh
Kenneth D. Furtado Christopher J. Rezendes Steven W. Kenyon
Mary Louise Nunes Paul Joncas
Eric Mack Gail Fortes

Narragansett Financial Corp.
Organizational Chart
    December 31, 2021

Corporators

Trustees

Executive Committee Audit Committee

Steven W. Kenyon
Treasurer

 
Nicholas M. Christ
President & CEO

   
Ronald J. Lowenstein David N. Kelley, II

Vice President Clerk



Report Item 2b.
Narragansett Financial Corp

Results: A list of branches for your depository institution: BAYCOAST BANK (ID_RSSD: 771609).
This depository institution is held by NARRAGANSETT FINANCIAL CORP (2623430) of SWANSEA, MA.
The data are as of 12/31/2021. Data reflects information that was received and processed through  01/12/2022.

Reconciliation and Verification Steps
1. In the Data Action column of each branch row, enter one or more of the actions specified below
2. If required, enter the date in the Effective Date column

Actions
OK: If the branch information is correct, enter 'OK'  in the Data Action column.
Change: If the branch information is incorrect or incomplete, revise the data, enter 'Change'  in the Data Action column and the date when this information first became valid in the Effective Date column.
Close: If a branch listed was sold or closed, enter 'Close'  in the Data Action column and the sale or closure date in the Effective Date column.
Delete: If a branch listed was never owned by this depository institution, enter 'Delete'  in the Data Action column.
Add: If a reportable branch is missing, insert a row, add the branch data, and enter 'Add'  in the Data Action column and the opening or acquisition date in the Effective Date column.

If printing this list, you may need to adjust your page setup in MS Excel. Try using landscape orientation, page scaling, and/or legal sized paper.

Submission Procedure
When you are finished, send a saved copy to your FRB contact.  See the detailed instructions on this site for more information.
If you are e-mailing this to your FRB contact, put your institution name, city and state in the subject line of the e-mail.

Note:
To satisfy the FR Y-10 reporting requirements, you must also submit FR Y-10 Domestic Branch Schedules for each branch with a Data Action of Change, Close, Delete, or Add.
The FR Y-10 report may be submitted in a hardcopy format or via the FR Y-10 Online application - https://y10online.federalreserve.gov.

* FDIC UNINUM, Office Number, and ID_RSSD columns are for reference only.  Verification of these values is not required.

Data 
Action

Effective 
Date Branch Service Type

Branch 
ID_RSSD* Popular Name Street Address City State Zip Code County Country FDIC UNINUM* Office Number* Head Office

Head Office 
ID_RSSD* Comments

Full Service (Head Office) 771609 BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           330 SWANSEA MALL DRIVE                                                                              SWANSEA                  MA 02777     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 5338883 BERKLEY BRANCH                                                                                                          2 LOCUST STREET                                                                                     BERKLEY                  MA 02779     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 4861281 DARTMOUTH STREET                                                                                                        714 DARTMOUTH STREET                                                                                DARTMOUTH                MA 02748     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 2536370 FAIRHAVEN BRANCH                                                                                                        75 ALDEN ROAD                                                                                       FAIRHAVEN                MA 02719     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 4458627 AIRPORT BRANCH                                                                                                          310 AIRPORT ROAD                                                                                    FALL RIVER               MA 02720     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 2298780 FALL RIVER BRANCH                                                                                                       1485 PLEASANT STREET                                                                                FALL RIVER               MA 02723     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 802307 FALL RIVER BRANCH                                                                                                       335 STAFFORD ROAD                                                                                   FALL RIVER               MA 02721     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 894405 ROBESON STREET BRANCH                                                                                                   490 ROBESON STREET                                                                                  FALL RIVER               MA 02720     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 209205 TROY STREET BRANCH                                                                                                      81 TROY STREET                                                                                      FALL RIVER               MA 02721     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 5430675 FOXBOROUGH BRANCH                                                                                                       8 FOXBOROUGH BLVD                                                                                   FOXBOROUGH               MA 02035     NORFOLK                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 4220244 ASHLEY BOULEVARD BRANCH                                                                                                 1000 ASHLEY BOULEVARD                                                                               NEW BEDFORD              MA 02745     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 3390739 NEW BEDFORD BRANCH                                                                                                      23 ELM STREET                                                                                       NEW BEDFORD              MA 02740     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 4612568 DARTMOUTH BRANCH                                                                                                        299 STATE ROAD                                                                                      NORTH DARTMOUTH          MA 02747     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 772802 NORTH DIGHTON BRANCH                                                                                                    438 SPRING STREET                                                                                   NORTH DIGHTON            MA 02764     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 2726582 SEEKONK BRANCH                                                                                                          110 TAUNTON AVENUE                                                                                  SEEKONK                  MA 02771     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 832902 SOMERSET BRANCH                                                                                                         921 G A R HIGHWAY, SOMERSET PLAZA, ROUTE 6                                                          SOMERSET                 MA 02725     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 4420482 BAYCOAST PLACE BRANCH                                                                                                   330 SWANSEA MALL DRIVE                                                                              SWANSEA                  MA 02777     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 897004 SWANSEA BRANCH                                                                                                          554 WILBUR AVENUE                                                                                   SWANSEA                  MA 02777     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 4420464 WESTPORT MAIN ROAD BRANCH                                                                                               787 MAIN ROAD                                                                                       WESTPORT                 MA 02790     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 5588213 BRISTOL BRANCH                                                                                                          601 HOPE ST                                                                                         BRISTOL                  RI 02809     BRISTOL                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 5371862 CRANSTON BRANCH                                                                                                         85 SOCKANOSSET CROSS ROAD                                                                           CRANSTON                 RI 02920     PROVIDENCE                              UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 5213793 LITTLE COMPTON                                                                                                          1 MEETING HOUSE LANE                                                                                LITTLE COMPTON           RI 02837     NEWPORT                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 5587403 PROVIDENCE BRANCH                                                                                                       78 DORRANCE ST                                                                                      PROVIDENCE               RI 02903     PROVIDENCE                              UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609
Full Service 3354106 CRANDALL ROAD BRANCH                                                                                                    ONE CRANDALL ROAD                                                                                   TIVERTON                 RI 02878     NEWPORT                                 UNITED STATES                           Not Required Not Required BAYCOAST BANK                                                                                                           771609



  
Report Item 3:  Securities Holders
(1)(2)(3)(a)(b)(c) and (4)(a)(b)(c)

Current securities holders with ownership, control or holdings of 5% or more Securities holders not listed in 3(1)(a) through 3(1)(3 ) that had ownership, control
with power to vote as of fiscal year ending 12-31-2015 or holdings of 5% or more with power to vote during the fiscal year ending 12-31-15

(1)(a) (1)(b) (1)(c) (2)(a) (2)(b) (2)(c)
Name Country of Citizenship Number and Percentage of Name Country of Citizenship Number and Percentage of
City, State, Country or Incorporation Each Class of Voting City, State, Country or Incorporation Each Class of Voting

Securities Securities

None N/A N/A None N/A N/A

Form FR Y-6

    December 31, 2021
Narragansett Financial Corp.



             Narragansett Financial Corp.

  
Report Item 4:  Insiders (Directors and Officers)
(1)(2)(3)(a)(b)(c) and (4)(a)(b)(c)

(4)(c)
(3)(c) List names of
Title & Position (4)(b) other companies

(1) (2) (3)(b) with Other (4)(a) Percentage of (includes
Name Principal (3)(a) Title & Position Businesses Percentage of Voting Shares in partnerships)

Occupation if Other Title & Position with Subsidiaries (Include names Voting Shares in Subsidiaries if 25% or more of
than with Bank with Bank Holding (Include names of other Bank Holding (Include names voting securities are
Holding Company Company of subsidiaries) businesses) Company of subsidiaries) held

Nicholas M. Christ See attached President, CEO See attached N/A N/A N/A N/A
organizational & Trustee organizational
charts charts

Maria Aguiar Trustee See attached N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Gail Fortes Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Kenneth D. Furtado Trustee See attached N/A N/A

organizational
charts

Richard K. Gunther Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Paul M. Joncas Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

David N Kelley, II Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Steven W. Kenyon Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Ronald J. Lowenstein Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A N/A

Form FR Y-6

    December 31, 2021

Vice President of Administration 
and Finance Bristol Community 
College

Chief Executive of software 
design, development and sales 
firm

Retired Attorney and Former 
O  f L  Offi  f R ld 

 

CPA and Director, CohnReznick, 
LLP

Director, CohnReznick, LLP

President and CEO of 
Octernion Consultants, Inc. 
(dba OCI Software)

President and CEO of Cedar 
Ledge Solutions, Inc. 

100% owner OCI Software

100% owner Cedar Ledge 
Solutions, Inc.

33% interest, w/voting 
interestMeyer, Regan & Wilner 
LLP, Partner

Executive Director at YWCA 
Southeastern MA

Executive Director at YWCA 
Southeastern MA

Vice President of 
Administration and Finance 
Bristol Community College

President, MegaNet 
Communications/ MegaClec, 
Inc.

Retired Account Vice President, 
UBS

Retired. Former owner, D. N. 
Kelley & Sons

President of MegaNet 
Communications/MegaClec, Inc.



             Narragansett Financial Corp.

  
Report Item 4:  Insiders (Directors and Officers)
(1)(2)(3)(a)(b)(c) and (4)(a)(b)(c)

(4)(c)
(3)(c) List names of
Title & Position (4)(b) other companies

(1) (2) (3)(b) with Other (4)(a) Percentage of (includes
Name Principal (3)(a) Title & Position Businesses Percentage of Voting Shares in partnerships)

Occupation if Other Title & Position with Subsidiaries (Include names Voting Shares in Subsidiaries if 25% or more of
than with Bank with Bank Holding (Include names of other Bank Holding (Include names voting securities are
Holding Company Company of subsidiaries) businesses) Company of subsidiaries) held

Form FR Y-6

    December 31, 2021

organizational
charts

Eric B. Mack Attorney Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Mary Louise Nunes Trustee See attached N/A N/A
organizational
charts

75% owner CPA Firm

Christopher J. Rezendes Trustee See attached N/A N/A
organizational
charts

Lawrence R. Walsh Trustee See attached N/A N/A N/A N/A
organizational
charts

    
Owner of Law Offices of Ronald 
J. Lowenstein

Retired Chief Operating Officer, 
Riverdale Mills Corp

100% owner INEX Advisors, 
LLC

Founder, President and 
Owner of INEX Advisors, LLC 

Strategy advisor to startup 
investors in companies 
developing or deploying Internet 
of Things

CPA/ Managing Member, 
Nunes & Charrier, LLC

CPA/ Managing Member, Nunes 
& Charrier, LLC

Attorney/Shareholder at Littler 
Mendelson, P.C.

50%  Managing Member The 
Benjamin Almy House, LLC



 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Audit Committee of Narragansett Financial Corp.: 
 
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
We have audited Narragansett Financial Corp. and subsidiary’s (the Company) internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO) in 2013.  In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the 
aforementioned criteria. 
 
We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS), the December 31, 2021 consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, and our report dated March 28, 2022 expressed an unmodified opinion. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with GAAS. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting” section of our audit report. We are required to be independent of the 
Company and to meet our ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment about the effectiveness of internal control 
over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion on internal control over financial reporting. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit of 
internal control over financial reporting conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material weakness when it exists. 
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In performing an audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with GAAS, we: 
  

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assess the risks that a 
material weakness exists, and test and evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting based on the assessed risk. 

 
Definition and Inherent Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process affected by those charged with 
governance, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the preparation of reliable financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Because management’s assessment 
and our audit were conducted to meet the reporting requirements of Section 112 of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act (FDICIA), our audit of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting included controls over the preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and 
with the instructions to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Bank Holding Companies 
(Form FR Y-9SP). An entity's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and 
that the receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction, of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the entity's assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Other Matter   
We were not engaged to, and we have not performed any procedures with respect to 
management’s assertion regarding compliance with laws and regulations included in the 
accompanying Management Report.  Accordingly, we do not express any opinion, or any other 
form of assurance, on management’s assertion regarding compliance with laws and regulations.   
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Restriction on Use 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and 
management of the Company and regulatory authorities and is not intended to be, and should not 
be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
Boston, Massachusetts  
March 28, 2022 
 























Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 
Consolidated Financial Statements  
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
To the Audit Committee of Narragansett Financial Corp.: 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Narragansett Financial Corp. and subsidiary 
(the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
the related consolidated statements of net income, comprehensive income, changes in retained 
earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements (collectively, the financial statements). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013, and our report dated 
March 28, 2022 expressed an unmodified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with GAAS. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section 
of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

 

 
 



2
 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of within one year after the date the financial 
statements are available to be issued. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control– 
related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The accompanying supplementary information, including the consolidating balance sheet and 
consolidating statement of net income, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements. The supplemental information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

 

 
Boston, Massachusetts 
March 28, 2022 
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary  
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 

  
  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

2021 2020
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 29,166$       44,161$       
Securities available for sale, at fair value 261,101       222,538       
Marketable equity securities, at fair value 73,028         54,840         
Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost 1,674           3,906           
Loans held for sale 13,623         28,970         
Loans, net 1,717,998    1,632,996    
Mortgage servicing rights, net 16,397         9,421           
Bank-owned life insurance 30,777         28,876         
Premises and equipment, net 43,478         38,795         
Accrued interest receivable 6,123           7,612           
Net deferred tax asset 758              3,148           
Goodwill and other intangible assets 22,476         20,078         
Equity method investments 24,664         7,967           
Other assets 36,989         19,071         

2,278,252$  2,122,379$  

Liabilities and Retained Earnings

Deposits 2,006,127$  1,741,082$  
Borrowings 14,748         170,278       
Subordinated debt 69,003         44,407         
Other liabilities 30,813         27,186         
               Total liabilities 2,120,691    1,982,953    

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 5, 6 and 12)

Retained earnings 177,099       155,048       
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (20,313)        (16,206)        
               Total retained earnings of Narragansett
                   Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 156,786       138,842       

Non-controlling interest in subsidiary 775              584              
157,561       139,426       

2,278,252$  2,122,379$  

(In thousands)
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Consolidated Statements of Net Income   

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

2021 2020

Interest and dividend income:
    Interest and fees on loans 73,259$    67,581$    
    Interest on debt securities 4,140        3,909        
    Dividend income 1,485        1,592        
    Interest on cash equivalents 24             43             
               Total interest and dividend income 78,908      73,125      
Interest expense:
    Interest on deposits 5,812        10,088      
    Interest on borrowings 1,176        2,456        
    Interest on subordinated debt 3,740        3,005        
               Total interest expense 10,728      15,549      

Net interest income 68,180      57,576      
Provision for loan losses 6,200        6,635        
Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 61,980      50,941      

Other income:
    Customer service fees 8,206        7,352        
    Net loan servicing fee income (expense) 532           (2,011)       
    Trust department fees 5,388        4,796        
    Insurance and brokerage commissions 7,239        5,581        
    Gain on securities available for sale, net 479           676           
    Gain (loss) on trading securities, net 2               (192)          
    Gain on marketable equity securities 12,807      6,609        
    Gain on sales of portfolio loans 3,012        1,914        
    Mortgage banking income 27,954      34,018      
    Bank-owned life insurance income 1,118        1,331        
    Miscellaneous 3,324        3,979        
               Total other income 70,061      64,053      

Operating expenses:
    Salaries and employee benefits 70,662      61,739      
    Occupancy and equipment 11,561      10,961      
    Professional fees 4,040        2,608        
    Data processing 3,607        3,266        
    Advertising costs 2,090        1,575        
    Deposit insurance 1,336        1,276        
    Amortization of intangible assets 179           115           
    Other general and administrative 8,900        7,196        
               Total operating expenses 102,375    88,736      

Income before income taxes 29,666      26,258      

Provision for income taxes 7,424        6,464        

               Net income 22,242      19,794      

Net income attributed to non-controlling interest in subsidiary 191           144           

Net income attributed to Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 22,051$    19,650$    

(In thousands)
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 

  (1) Amounts are reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss and are included in 
gain on securities available for sale, net on the consolidated statements of net income.  Income 
tax expense associated with these gains for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 
$134,000 and $189,000, respectively. 

(2) Amounts are reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss and are included in 
other general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of net income.  Income 
tax benefit associated with these expenses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 
$361,000 and $245,000, respectively. 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.   

2021 2020

Net income 22,242$   19,794$   

Other comprehensive loss:
Securities available for sale:

Unrealized holding gains (losses) (4,573)      1,991       
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in income (1) (479)         (676)         
Net unrealized gains (losses) (5,052)      1,315       
Related tax effects 1,331       (343)         

               Net-of-tax amount (3,721)      972          

Derivative instruments used for cash flow hedges:
Unrealized gains (losses) 828          (357)         
Related tax effects (233)         101          

               Net-of-tax amount 595          (256)         

Defined benefit pension plans:
Losses arising during the year (2,653)      (9,022)      
Reclassification adjustment for losses

recognized in net periodic benefit cost (2) 1,289       875          
Net defined benefit pension plan losses (1,364)      (8,147)      
Related tax effects 383          2,290       

               Net-of-tax amount (981)         (5,857)      

                      Total other comprehensive loss (4,107)      (5,141)      

              Comprehensive income 18,135$   14,653$   

(In thousands)
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

   Consolidated Statements of Changes in Retained Earnings 

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

  

Accumulated
Other Non- Total

Retained Comprehensive Controlling Retained 
Earnings Loss Interest Earnings

Balance at December 31, 2019 135,398$ (11,065)$        440$           124,773$ 

Comprehensive income (loss) 19,650     (5,141)            144             14,653     

Balance at December 31, 2020 155,048   (16,206)          584             139,426   

Comprehensive income (loss) 22,051     (4,107)            191             18,135     

Balance at December 31, 2021 177,099$ (20,313)$        775$           157,561$ 

(In thousands)
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020  

  

(continued) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Net income 22,242$   19,794$   
    Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
        provided by operating activities:
            Net amortization of securities available for sale 431          200          
            Gain on securities available for sale, net (479)         (676)         
            Gain on marketable equity securities, net (12,807)    (6,609)      
            (Gain) loss on trading securities, net (2)             192          
            Gain on sales of portfolio loans (3,012)      (1,914)      
            Provision for loan losses 6,200       6,635       
            Mortgage servicing rights capitalized (10,271)    (9,312)      
            Amortization of mortgage servicing rights 4,771       2,605       
            Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance of mortgage servicing rights (1,476)      1,476       
            Depreciation and amortization of premises and 

 equipment and intangible assets 4,149       3,644       
Bank-owned life insurance income (952)         (985)         
Losses from equity method investments 38            317          

            Deferred tax provision 3,871       2,629       
            Net change in:
                Loans held for sale 15,347     2,659       
                Accrued interest receivable 1,489       (3,172)      
                Other assets and other liabilities (17,062)    17,937     
                   Net cash provided by operating activities 12,477     35,420     

Cash flows from investing activities:
Securities available for sale:

Proceeds from sales 50,886     140,324   
   Proceeds from  calls/maturities and principal payment 58,716     70,975     

Purchases (153,169)  (334,052)  
Trading securities:

Proceeds from sales 4,901 54,486
Purchases (4,899) (54,678)

Marketable equity securities:
Proceeds from sales 13,508     13,767     
Purchases (18,889)    (21,473)    

    Purchase of FHLB stock (7,146)      (7,179)      
    Redemption of FHLB stock 9,378       10,603     
    Purchase of bank-owned life insurance (1,808)      (736)         
    Proceeds from bank-owned life insurance 858          2,000       
    Proceeds from sales of portfolio loans 279,134   168,846   
    Loan originations, net of amortization and payoffs (367,324)  (376,417)  
    Additions to premises and equipment (8,667)      (5,211)      
    Proceeds from the disposal of premises and equipment 14            11            
    Investments in equity method investments (16,735)    (4,950)      
                  Net cash used in investing activities (161,242)  (343,684)  

(In thousands)
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Concluded) 

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020  

 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

2021 2020

Cash flows from financing activities:
    Net change in non-brokered deposits 280,062 342,236
    Net change in brokered deposits (15,017)     (16,940)     
    Net change in borrowings with maturities of three months or less 8,922        (67,800)     
    Repayment of borrowings with maturities in excess of three months (44,132)     (48,105)     
    Repayment of PPPLF borrowings (120,320)   120,320    
    Issuance of subordinated debt, net of issuance costs 44,005      -                
    Repayment of subordinated debt (19,750)     -                
                  Net cash provided by financing activities 133,770    329,711    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (14,995)     21,447      

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 44,161      22,714      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 29,166$    44,161$    

Supplemental cash flow information:
    Interest paid on deposits 5,854$      10,229$    
    Interest paid on borrowings and subordinated debt 5,439        5,436        
    Income taxes paid, net 4,245        2,533        

(In thousands)
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 Basis of presentation and consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Narragansett Financial Corp. 
(the “Company”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary, BayCoast Bank (the “Bank”), and the 
Bank’s subsidiaries.  The Bank provides a variety of financial services to individuals and 
businesses through its offices in southeastern Massachusetts and Rhode Island.  Its primary 
deposit products are checking, savings, money market and term certificates, and its primary 
lending products are residential, commercial and multi-family mortgages and commercial 
loans.   

The Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries include BCBOZ Investment, LLC, which holds real 
estate property; BayCoast Financial Services (“BFS”), which sells non-deposit investment 
products to individuals and entities; Troy Security Corporation and B.F.R. Corp., which buy, 
hold, and sell securities on their own behalf; 1851 Corporation, which holds investments and 
real estate property; Partners Insurance Group, LLC (“Partners”), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of BFS, which provides insurance products to consumers and businesses; BayCoast Mortgage 
Company, LLC (“BCMC”), which originates and sells conforming and jumbo residential 
mortgages; Priority Funding, LLC (“Priority Funding”) which originates and sells 
manufactured home loans; and Team Work Mortgage, LLC (“Team Work Mortgage”) a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Priority Funding, which provides broker lender services of mobile 
and manufactured home loans and primarily conducts business in Arizona. 

Plimoth Trust Company, LLC, d/b/a Plimoth Investment Advisors (“Plimoth”) is an 80%-
owned subsidiary of the Bank, which provides investment management and trust services.  
Plimoth acts as a fiduciary and provides portfolio and/or trust services to its clients.  The 
remaining 20% of Plimoth is owned by an unrelated third party and is reported as a non-
controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements. 

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

 Use of estimates 

In preparing consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, management is required to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the 
consolidated balance sheet and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Material estimates that are 
particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the determination of the 
allowance for loan losses, post-retirement benefit obligations, and valuation of mortgage 
servicing rights. 
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 Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Fair value hierarchy 

The Company groups its assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in three levels, 
based on the markets in which they are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to 
determine fair value. 

Level 1 – Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and 
liabilities.  Valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources. 

Level 2 – Valuation is based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted 
prices for similar assets and liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data, benchmark 
yields, interest rate volatilities, broker/dealer quotes, credit spreads, and new issue data for 
substantially the full term of the assets and liabilities.   

Level 3 – Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market 
activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities.  Level 3 assets and 
liabilities include those whose value is determined using unobservable inputs to pricing 
models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as those for which 
the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.   

 Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the 2020 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the 2021 presentation.  

 Significant group concentrations of credit and other risks 

Most of the Company’s activities are with customers located in southeastern Massachusetts 
and Rhode Island.  Note 4 includes the types of lending in which the Company engages.  The 
Company does not have any significant concentrations to any one industry or customer. 

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include balances due from banks and short-term investments, which 
consist of interest-bearing deposits and federal funds sold, which mature overnight or on 
demand and are carried at cost.  The Company normally maintains balances on deposit with 
other financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits. 

Restricted cash represents collateral amounts pledged by the Company with certain interest rate 
swap derivative counterparties. 
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

  Securities 

Marketable equity securities are measured at fair value with changes in fair value reported on 
the Company’s consolidated statements of net income as a component of other income, 
regardless of whether such gains and losses are realized. 

Securities that are held principally for resale in the near term are classified as trading and 
recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. Interest and dividends 
are included in net interest income. There were no trading securities held at December 31, 
2021 and 2020. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, proceeds from sales of 
trading securities amounted to $4,901,000 and $54,486,000, respectively. Gross realized gains 
amounted to $2,000 and $64,000, respectively.  There were no gross realized losses for the 
year ended December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2020, gross realized losses 
amounted to $256,000.  

Securities not classified as marketable equity securities or trading are classified as “available 
for sale” and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings 
and reported in other comprehensive income. 

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method 
over the terms of the securities.  Premiums on callable bonds are amortized through the earliest 
call date. Gains and losses on the sale of securities available for sale are recorded on the trade 
date and determined using the specific identification method. 

Each reporting period, the Company evaluates all securities available for sale with a decline in 
fair value below the amortized cost of the investment to determine whether or not the 
impairment is deemed to be other than temporary (“OTTI”). OTTI is required to be recognized 
(1) if the Company intends to sell the security; (2) if it is “more likely than not” that the 
Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis; or (3) 
if the present value of expected cash flows is not sufficient to recover the entire amortized cost 
basis.  For impaired debt securities that the Company intends to sell, or more likely than not 
will be required to sell, the full amount of the depreciation is recognized as OTTI through 
earnings.  For all other impaired debt securities, credit-related OTTI is recognized through 
earnings and non-credit related OTTI is recognized in other comprehensive income/loss, net of 
applicable taxes.   
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)  

 Federal Home Loan Bank stock 

The Company, as a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) system, is required to 
maintain an investment in capital stock of the FHLB of Boston.  Based on the redemption 
provisions of the FHLB, the stock has no quoted market value and is carried at cost.  At its 
discretion, the FHLB may declare dividends on the stock.  The Company reviews for 
impairment based on the ultimate recoverability of the cost basis in the stock.  As of December 
31, 2021 and 2020, no impairment has been recognized. 

 Loans held for sale 

The Company utilizes the fair value option for its loans being held for sale in the secondary 
market. Fair value is determined based on either commitments in effect from investors or 
prevailing market prices and includes the value of mortgage servicing rights. The Company 
elected the fair value option to better match the accounting method with management’s 
strategies for managing the risks of loans held for sale. Changes in fair value are recorded 
on the consolidated statements of net income.   
 

 Loans  

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until 
maturity or pay-off generally are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances 
adjusted for charge-offs, the allowance for loan losses, any deferred fees or costs on originated 
loans and premiums on purchased loans.  Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal 
balance.  Loan origination costs, net of certain direct origination fees, are deferred and 
recognized as an adjustment of the related loan yield using the interest method. 

 Allowance for loan losses  

The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a 
provision for loan losses charged to earnings.  Loan losses are charged against the allowance 
when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed.  Subsequent 
recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. 

The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by management.  This evaluation 
is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as 
more information becomes available.  The allowance consists of general, allocated and 
unallocated components, as further described below. 
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)  

 Allowance for loan losses (continued) 

 General component 

The general component of the allowance for loan losses is based on historical loss experience 
adjusted for qualitative factors stratified by the Company’s loan segments.  Management uses 
a rolling average of historical losses based on a time frame appropriate to capture relevant loss 
data for each loan segment.  This historical loss factor is adjusted for the following qualitative 
factors: levels of and trends in delinquencies and impaired loans; levels of and trends in 
charge-offs and recoveries; trends in volume and terms of loans; effects of any changes in risk 
selection and underwriting; experience, ability and depth of lending management and other 
relevant staff; national and local economic trends and conditions; industry conditions and 
effects of changes in credit concentrations.  There were no changes in the Company’s policies 
or methodology pertaining to the general component of the allowance for loan losses during 
2021 and 2020.  The qualitative factors are determined based on the various risk characteristics 
of each loan segment.   

The accrual of interest on all loans is discontinued at the time a loan is 90 days past due unless 
the credit is well-secured and in process of collection.  Past due status is based on contractual 
terms of the loan.  In all cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual earlier if collection of principal 
or interest is considered doubtful.  All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are 
placed on nonaccrual is reversed against interest income.  The interest on these loans is 
accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual.  
Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually 
due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.   

Risk characteristics relevant to each portfolio segment are as follows: 

Residential real estate – The Company generally does not originate loans with a loan-to-value 
ratio greater than 80 percent without private mortgage insurance and does not generally grant 
loans that would be classified as sub-prime upon origination.  All loans in this segment are 
collateralized by residential real estate and repayment is dependent on the credit quality of the 
individual borrower.  The overall health of the economy, including unemployment rates and 
housing prices, will have an effect on the credit quality in this segment.    

Commercial and multi-family real estate – Loans in this segment include owner-occupied and 
non-owner occupied multi-family and income-producing properties throughout New England.  
The underlying cash flows generated by the properties are adversely impacted by a downturn 
in the economy as evidenced by increased vacancy rates, which in turn, will have an effect on 
the credit quality in this segment.  Management obtains rent rolls annually and continually 
monitors the cash flows of these loans. 
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)  

Allowance for loan losses (continued) 

General component (concluded) 

Construction – Loans in this segment include pre-sold and speculative real estate 
development loans for which payment is derived from sale of the property.  The Company 
also originates construction loans which generally provide 12-month construction periods 
followed by a permanent mortgage loan, and follow the Bank’s normal mortgage 
underwriting guidelines. Credit risk is affected by cost overruns, time to sell at an adequate 
price, and market conditions.     

 
Home equity lines of credit (“HELOC”) and second mortgages – Loans in this segment are 
collateralized by residential real estate and payment is dependent on the credit quality of the individual 
borrower.  The Company has first and second liens on property securing these loans. 

Commercial – Loans in this segment are made to businesses and are generally secured by 
assets of the business.  Repayment is expected from the cash flows of the business.  A 
weakened economy, and resultant decreased consumer spending, will affect credit quality in 
this segment. In addition, this segment includes loans issued under the United States Small 
Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). These loans are 
guaranteed and are not allocated a general reserve because the Company has not experienced 
losses on such loans and management expects the guarantees will be effective, if necessary.    

Consumer – Loans in this segment include loans secured with collateral and unsecured loans 
with repayment dependent on the credit quality of the individual borrower.  

Allocated component 

The allocated component relates to loans that are classified as impaired.  Based on internal 
credit analyses, residential real estate loans, commercial, commercial real estate and multi-
family and construction loans are evaluated for impairment on a loan-by-loan basis.  
Impairment is measured by either the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at 
the loan’s effective interest rate or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral 
dependent.  An allowance is established when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value) 
of the impaired loan is lower than the carrying value of that loan.  Large groups of smaller 
balance homogeneous loans are collectively evaluated for impairment.  Accordingly, the 
Company does not separately identify individual consumer loans for impairment disclosures, 
unless such loans are subject to a troubled debt restructuring agreement. 
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)  

 Allowance for loan losses (concluded) 

Allocated component (concluded) 

A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable 
that the Company will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest 
when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.  Factors considered by 
management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and the 
probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due.  Loans that 
experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as  
impaired.  Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls 
on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan 
and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s 
prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest 
owed.   

The Company periodically may agree to modify the contractual terms of loans.  When a loan is 
modified and a concession is made to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, the 
modification is considered a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”).  All TDRs are initially 
classified as impaired.   

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act, was signed into law 
on March 27, 2020, and provided emergency economic relief to individuals and businesses 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Pursuant to Section 4013 of the CARES Act, financial 
institutions can suspend the requirements under U.S. GAAP related to TDRs for modifications 
made before December 31, 2021 to loans that were current as of December 31, 2019. 

Unallocated component 
 
An unallocated component is maintained to cover uncertainties that could affect management’s 
estimate of probable losses.  The unallocated component of the allowance reflects the margin 
of imprecision inherent in the underlying assumptions used in the methodologies for 
estimating allocated and general components. 
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)  

 Loan servicing  

Capitalized mortgage servicing rights are reported in other assets and are amortized into 
mortgage banking income in proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated future net 
servicing income of the underlying loans.  Mortgage servicing rights are evaluated for 
impairment based upon the fair value of the rights compared to amortized cost.  Impairment is 
determined by stratifying rights by predominate risk characteristics, such as interest rates and 
terms.  Impairment, if material, is recognized through a valuation allowance for an individual 
stratum, to the extent that fair value is less than the carrying amount of the stratum.  Changes 
in the valuation allowance are reported in mortgage banking income.  Fair value is based on a 
valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future net servicing income, 
using certain prepayment assumptions that may not be observable in the market place. 

 Foreclosed real estate 

Real estate acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure is held for sale and is initially 
recorded at fair value, less costs to sell, at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost 
basis.  Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by management and 
the real estate is carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.  
Revenue and expenses from operations, changes in the valuation allowance and any direct 
write-downs are included in other general and administrative expense.  Gains and losses on 
sales are included in miscellaneous income. There were no foreclosed real estate assets 
recorded as of December 31, 2021, or 2020.  

 Premises and equipment   

Land is carried at cost.  Buildings, equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at cost, 
less accumulated depreciation and amortization computed on the straight-line method over the 
expected terms of the leases or estimated useful lives of the assets if shorter.  Expected terms 
include lease option periods to the extent that the exercise of such option is reasonably 
assured. 

 Bank-owned life insurance 

Bank-owned life insurance policies are reflected on the consolidated balance sheets at cash 
surrender value.  Changes in the net cash surrender value of the policies, as well as insurance 
proceeds received in excess of cash surrender value, are reflected in bank-owned life insurance 
income on the consolidated statements of net income and are not subject to income taxes. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Transfers of financial assets 

Transfers of an entire financial asset, a group of entire financial assets, or a participating 
interest in an entire financial asset are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has 
been surrendered.  Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the 
assets have been isolated from the Company, (2) the transferee obtains the right to pledge or 
exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Company does not maintain effective control over 
the transferred assets. 

During the normal course of business, the Company may transfer a portion of a loan.  In order 
to be eligible for sales treatment, the transferred portion of the loan must meet the criteria of a 
participating interest.  If it does not meet the criteria of a participating interest, the transfer 
must be accounted for as a secured borrowing.  In order to meet the criteria for a participating 
interest, all cash flows from the loan must be divided proportionately, the rights of each loan 
holder must have the same priority, the loan holders must have no recourse to the transferor 
other than standard representations and warranties and no loan holder has the right to pledge or 
exchange the entire loan. 

Derivative financial instruments  

Derivative financial instruments are recognized as assets and liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet, measured at fair value and recorded in other assets and other liabilities.  

Interest Rate Swap Agreements  

The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements to provide for the needs of its 
customers or to manage the interest rate risk of its balance sheet. An interest rate swap is an 
agreement whereby one party agrees to pay a fixed rate of interest on a notional principal 
amount in exchange for receiving a floating rate of interest on the same notional amount for a 
predetermined period of time from the second party. In the case of customer based 
transactions, derivatives are offset with matching derivatives with other correspondent bank 
counterparties in order to minimize interest rate risk to the Company. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)  

Derivative financial instruments (concluded) 

Interest Rate Swap Agreements (concluded)  

The customer based interest rate derivative instruments are recorded on the consolidated 
balance sheets as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. These derivatives do not 
qualify for hedge accounting. As such, all changes in fair value of these derivative instruments 
are included in other miscellaneous income. 

The Company also uses interest rate swap agreements to hedge various exposures or to modify 
interest rate characteristics of various balance sheet accounts. Derivatives that are used as part 
of the asset/liability management process are linked to specific assets or liabilities and have a 
high correlation between the contract and the underlying item being hedged, both at inception 
and throughout the hedge period. Most interest rate swaps involve the exchange of fixed and 
floating interest payments. The Company uses interest rate swaps to convert a portion of its 
short-term, variable interest funding sources to long-term, fixed-rate funding sources (cash 
flow hedge). 

Interest rate swaps are recognized as assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets 
and measured at fair value. The gain or loss on a derivative designated and qualifying as a cash 
flow hedging instrument is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and 
reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction 
affects earnings.  
Mortgage Banking Derivatives 

Mortgage loan commitments qualify as derivative loan commitments if the loan that will result 
from exercise of the commitment will be held for sale upon funding.  Forward loan sale 
commitments mitigate the risk of potential decreases in the values of loans that would result 
from the exercise of mortgage loan commitments.  These derivatives, if material, are 
recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets in other assets and other liabilities 
with changes in their fair values recorded in other income.   
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

          SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

The assets (including identifiable intangible assets) and liabilities acquired in a business 
combination are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill is recognized for 
the excess of the acquisition cost (or the fair value of the entity acquired) over the fair value of 
the net assets acquired and is not subsequently amortized.  Management assesses goodwill for 
impairment at least on an annual basis to determine if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be less than the fair value of the reporting entity.  If the 
carrying amount exceeds fair value, an impairment charge is recorded through operations. 
Goodwill amounts to $21,454,000 and $19,577,000 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. No impairment has been recognized.  

On June 6, 2021, Priority Funding acquired Team Work Mortgage LLC, for $1,500,000.  
$250,000 of the purchase price is deferred and will be paid over a 2-year period assuming Team 
Work Mortgage achieves certain annual operating results, as defined in the agreement between 
Priority Funding and Team Work Mortgage.  Goodwill of $1,500,000 was recorded as part of 
this acquision. 

On February 1, 2021, Partners Insurance acquired Interstate Insurance Agency for $1,100,000. 
Goodwill of $376,000 and intangible assets of $700,000 were recorded as part of this acquisition.  

Other intangible assets represent the long-term value of customer relationships acquired and 
are being amortized over their estimated lives on a straight-line basis.  The Company evaluates 
the realizability of other intangible assets based on the value of the underlying customer 
relationships whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable.  If that value is less than the carrying amount of the intangible assets 
and is considered permanent, the Company would recognize an impairment loss. Other 
intangible assets include customer lists with a net carrying amount of $1,023,000 and 
$501,000 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020, amortization expense was $179,000 and $114,000, respectively. 

 Equity method investments 

The company accounts for its investment in limited liability companies using the equity 
method. The Company owns less than 50% of each limited liability company and does not 
have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies.  Priority 
distributions received from the equity investments reduce the Company's recorded investment 
and the investments are evaluated for impairment.  The Company’s share of equity losses are 
included in other general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of net 
income. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Insurance commissions 

The Company’s insurance revenue, which represents commissions earned for performing 
agency–related services, is earned at the point in time when the agent has satisfied its 
performance obligations of placement services. In addition, the Company may receive 
additional performance commissions based on achieving certain sales and loss experience 
measures.  Such commissions are recognized when determinable, which is generally when  
such commissions are received or when the Company receives data from the insurance 
companies that allows the reasonable estimation of these amounts. 

Pension plan  

The compensation cost of an employee’s pension benefit is recognized on the projected unit 
credit method over the employee’s approximate service period.  The aggregate cost method is 
utilized for funding purposes. The Company accounts for its defined benefit pension plan 
using an actuarial model that allocates pension costs over the service period of employees in 
the plan.  The Company accounts for the over-funded or under-funded status of its defined 
benefit plan as an asset or liability in its consolidated balance sheets and recognizes changes in 
the funded status in the year in which the changes occur through other comprehensive income 
or loss. 

The service cost component of net periodic pension cost is reported in salaries and employee 
benefit expense. The other components of net periodic pension benefit/cost are reported in 
other general and administrative expenses. See Note 15. 

 Income taxes  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the liability (or balance sheet) 
method.  Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the 
tax effects of the temporary differences between the book and tax bases of the various balance 
sheet assets and liabilities and gives current recognition to changes in tax rates and laws in the 
period of enactment.  A valuation allowance is established against deferred tax assets when, 
based upon the available evidence including historical and projected taxable income, it is more 
likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.   

The Company does not have any uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2021 and 2020 
which require accrual or disclosure. 

The Company records interest and penalties as part of income tax expense.  No interest or 
penalties were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 Trust assets  

Trust assets held in a fiduciary or agency capacity are not included in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. Trust department fees are primarily comprised of fees 
earned from trust administration services.  The Company’s performance obligation is generally 
satisfied over time and the resulting fees are recognized monthly, based on the daily accrual of 
the market value of the investment accounts and the applicable fee rate. 

 Advertising costs  

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.  

Comprehensive income/loss 

Accounting principles generally require that recognized revenue, expenses, gains and losses be 
included in net income.  Although certain changes in assets and liabilities are reported as a 
separate component of the retained earnings section of the consolidated balance sheets, such 
items, along with net income, are components of comprehensive income/loss.  

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income/loss, included in retained 
earnings, are as follows:  

 

 
An actuarial loss of $1,058,000 included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at 
December 31, 2021, is expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost for 
the year ending December 31, 2022. 

December 31,
2021 2020

(In thousands)
Securities available for sale:

Net unrealized gain (loss) (3,196)$    1,856$     
Tax effect 840          (491)         
            Net-of-tax amount (2,356)      1,365       

Derivative instruments used for cash flow hedges:
Net unrealized loss (383)         (1,211)      
Tax effect 108          341          
            Net-of-tax amount (275)         (870)         

Defined benefit pension plans:
Unrecognized actuarial loss (24,595)    (23,231)    
Tax effect 6,913       6,530       
            Net-of-tax amount (17,682)    (16,701)    

(20,313)$  (16,206)$  



 

 
 

23 

Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

         SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (concluded) 

 Recent accounting pronouncements  

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting 
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).  The amendments in this ASU require 
that lessees recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases) at the 
commencement date: (a) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments 
arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (b) a right-of-use asset, which is an 
asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease 
term. The amendments are effective for years beginning after December 15, 2021 and interim 
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted.  
The Company is currently evaluating the impact to the consolidated financial statements of 
adopting this ASU but does not expect adoption to have a significant impact. 
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments —Credit Losses (Topic 
326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.   Among other things, these 
amendments require the measurement of all expected credit losses for certain financial assets,  
such as loans, held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts.  The amendments in this ASU are effective for the 
Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within 
those fiscal years.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its 
consolidated financial statements and expects significant changes to the allowance for loan losses 
methodology upon adoption. No financial statement impacts have been determined.   
 
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): 
Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. This Update 
provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to GAAP guidance on contract 
modifications and hedge accounting to ease the financial reporting burdens of the expected 
market transition from LIBOR and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates, 
such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). The amendments in this Update are 
effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact this Update will have on its consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

2. RESTRICTIONS ON CASH AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM BANKS 

The Company is periodically required to maintain average balances on hand or with the 
Federal Reserve Bank.  At December 31, 2021 and 2020, there was no reserve requirement.  

At both December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company pledged $500,000 in cash held at a 
correspondent bank to the state of Maine to establish the Plimoth Trust Company, LLC. 

The Company has minimum collateral posting thresholds with certain of its interest rate swap 
derivative counterparties. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, collateral of $1,930,000 and 
$5,070,000, respectively, was pledged by the Company to its counterparties.   

3. SECURITIES  

 Available for Sale 

The amortized cost and fair value of securities available for sale with gross unrealized gains 
and losses, follows:   

 

 
 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value
(In thousands)

December 31, 2021

U.S. Government bonds 84,089$    74$         (819)$     83,344$    
Government sponsored enterprises 68,831      -             (1,850)    66,981      
State and municipal bonds 43,122      -             (88)         43,034      
Corporate bonds 47,005      7             (1,332)    45,680      
Subordinated debt and collateralized debt obligations 21,250      812         -             22,062      

        Total securities available for sale 264,297$  893$       (4,089)$  261,101$  

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value
(In thousands)

December 31, 2020

U.S. Government bonds 44,988$   417$         -$              45,405$   
Government sponsored enterprises 71,497     138           (11)            71,624     
State and municipal bonds 52,817     351           (4)              53,164     
Corporate bonds 25,083     290           (27)            25,346     
Subordinated debt and collateralized debt obligations 26,297     702           -                26,999     

        Total securities available for sale 220,682$ 1,898$      (42)$          222,538$ 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

 SECURITIES (continued) 

 Available for Sale (continued) 

Securities with an amortized cost of $38,837,000 and $20,973,000 and a fair value of 
$38,500,000 and $21,356,000 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were pledged 
to secure public funds and other such purposes as required by law.   

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 
2021 is as follows.  Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities on certain 
securities because of call or prepayment provisions. 

 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, proceeds from sales of securities 
available for sale amounted to $50,886,000 and $140,324,000, respectively.  Gross realized 
gains amounted to $705,000 and $706,000, respectively, and gross realized losses 
amounted to $226,000 and $30,000, respectively.   

Information pertaining to securities available for sale with gross unrealized losses at December 
31, 2021 and 2020, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual 
securities have been in a continuous loss position, follows: 

 
 

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Within 1 year 33,582$      33,648$      
After 1 year through 5 years 139,234      136,860      
After 5 years through 10 years 68,930        68,044        
Over 10 years 22,551        22,549        

264,297$    261,101$    

(In thousands)

Gross Gross
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair

Losses Value Losses Value

December 31, 2021

   US Government bonds 819$            63,270$          -$             -$                
   Government sponsored enterprises 1,764           65,067            86            1,914          
   State and municipal bonds 70                17,232            18            1,426          

Corporate bonds 1,273           39,481            59            1,941          
            Total securities available for sale 3,926$         185,050$        163$        5,281$        

Less Than Twelve Months Over Twelve Months

(In thousands)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

 SECURITIES (concluded) 

 Available for Sale (concluded) 

 

At December 31, 2021, 85 debt securities have unrealized losses with aggregate depreciation 
of 2.10% from the Company’s amortized cost basis, all of which is deemed to be temporary.   

The unrealized losses on these investments were primarily caused by interest rate changes.  It 
is expected that the securities would not be settled at a price less than the par value of the 
investment.  Because the decline in fair value is attributable to changes in interest rates and not 
to credit quality, and because the Company does not intend to sell the investments and it is 
more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell the investments before 
recovery of their amortized cost basis, which may be maturity, the Company does not consider 
these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2021. 
 
Marketable Equity Securities 
 
Marketable equity securities consist of common stocks, preferred stocks and money market 
mutual funds. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company held 
marketable equity securities with an aggregate fair value of $73,028,000 and $54,840,000, 
respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, net unrealized gains 
recognized on marketable equity securities still held at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
amounted to $9,317,000 and $6,633,000, respectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Gross Gross
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair

Losses Value Losses Value

December 31, 2020

   Government sponsored enterprises 11$              6,989$            -$             -$                
   State and municipal bonds 4                  10,729            -               -                  

Corporate bonds 27                3,973              -               -                  
            Total securities available for sale 42$              21,691$          -$         -$            

Less Than Twelve Months Over Twelve Months

(In thousands)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)    

4.   LOANS 

A summary of the balances of loans follows:   

 
 
Residential, commercial and multi-family, HELOC and second mortgage loans are subject to a 
blanket lien securing FHLB borrowings.  See Note 9. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 31,
2021 2020

Mortgage loans on real estate:
    Residential 247,530$        288,514$       
    Commercial and multi-family 943,649          852,389         
    Construction 212,319          81,255           
    HELOC and second mortgages 79,071            78,058           

1,482,569       1,300,216      

Commercial loans:
    Commercial 155,840          156,451         
    SBA PPP 24,495            134,444         

180,335 290,895

Consumer loans 79,303            62,243           

                     Total loans 1,742,207       1,653,354      

Allowance for loan losses (22,847)          (17,640)          
Net deferred loan fees (1,362)            (2,718)            

                     Loans, net 1,717,998$     1,632,996$    

(In thousands)
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                        Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

LOANS (continued) 

The CARES Act authorized the SBA to temporarily guarantee loans under a new 7(a) loan 
program called the PPP. As a qualified SBA lender, the Company was automatically 
authorized to originate PPP loans. 

The SBA will guarantee 100% of the PPP loans made to eligible borrowers. The entire 
principal amount of the borrower’s PPP loan, including any accrued interest, is eligible to be 
reduced by the loan forgiveness amount under the PPP so long as employee and compensation 
levels of the business are maintained and 60% of the loan proceeds are used for payroll 
expenses, with the remaining 40% of the loan proceeds used for other qualifying expenses.  

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had modified 7 loans aggregating $13,489,000 that 
are not considered TDRs, primarily consisting of principal deferral. All of these modified 
loans are performing in accordance with their modified terms. These loans are evaluated for 
impairment and non-accrual status in accordance with the Company’s current policies. Details 
with respect to actual loan modifications are as follows: 

 

 

Gross
Number of Weighted Average

Loans Balance Interest Rate

December 31, 2021

Residential 6 1,681$                4.15%
Commercial and multi-family 1 11,808                                  4.00

        Total 7 13,489$              4.02%

(In thousands)
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 LOANS (continued) 

Activity in the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and 
allocation of the allowance to loan segments at December 31, 2021 and 2020, follows: 

  

 
   
 
 
  
  
    

Commercial HELOC
Residential & Multi-family  & Second  
Real Estate Real Estate Construction Mortgages Commercial Consumer Unallocated Total

Balance at December 31, 2019 739$          6,590$             475$             275$            2,122$        912$        133$          11,246$       

     Provision (credit) for loan losses 63              3,403               (28)                24                400             596          2,177         6,635           
     Loans charged-off (6)               (3)                     -                   -                   (121)           (275)         -                 (405)             
     Recoveries 7                40                    -                   12                53               52            -                 164              

Balance at December 31, 2020 803            10,030             447               311              2,454          1,285       2,310         17,640         

     Provision (credit) for loan losses (125)           3,724               933               (5)                 (398)           2,234       (163)           6,200           
     Loans charged-off -                -                      -                   -                   (1)               (1,211)      -                 (1,212)          
     Recoveries 9                -                      -                   9                  130             71            -                 219              

Balance at December 31, 2021 687$          13,754$           1,380$          315$            2,185$        2,379$     2,147$       22,847$       

December 31, 2021

Allowance related to impaired loans 69$            2,461$             -$                 -$                 607$           -$             -$               3,137$         
Allowance related to non-impaired loans 618            11,293             1,380            315              1,578          2,379       2,147         19,710         

Total allowance for loan losses 687$          13,754$           1,380$          315$            2,185$        2,379$     2,147$       22,847$       

Impaired loans 2,978$       15,839$           69$               268$            1,325$        228$        -$               20,707$       
Non-impaired loans 244,552     927,810           212,250        78,803         179,010      79,075     -                 1,721,500    

Total loans 247,530$   943,649$         212,319$      79,071$       180,335$    79,303$   -$               1,742,207$  

December 31, 2020

Allowance related to impaired loans 66$            -$                    -$                 -$                 747$           -$             -$               813$            
Allowance related to non-impaired loans 737            10,030             447               311              1,707          1,285       2,310         16,827         

Total allowance for loan losses 803$          10,030$           447$             311$            2,454$        1,285$     2,310$       17,640$       

Impaired loans 3,275$       3,190$             -$             220$            1,531$        129$        -$               8,345$         
Non-impaired loans 285,239     849,199           81,255          77,838         289,364      62,114     -                 1,645,009    

Total loans 288,514$   852,389$         81,255$        78,058$       290,895$    62,243$   -$               1,653,354$  

(In thousands)
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 LOANS (continued)     

The following is a summary of information pertaining to impaired loans: 

 
  

Unpaid
Recorded Principal Related
Investment Balance Allowance

Impaired loans without a valuation allowance:
Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 2,391$          2,391$         
     Commercial and multi-family 1,272            1,272           
     Construction 69                 69                
     HELOC and second mortgages 268               268              
Consumer 228               228              
Commercial 263               263              

4,491            4,491           
Impaired loans with a valuation allowance:
Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 587               587              69$              
     Commercial and multi-family 14,567          14,567         2,461           
Commercial 1,062            1,062           607              

16,216          16,216         3,137           

          Total 20,707$        20,707$       3,137$         

Interest
Average Interest Income
Recorded Income Recognized
Investment Recognized on Cash Basis

Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 4,244$          138$            77$              
     Commercial and multi-family 15,182          272              167              
     Construction 69                 -                   -                  
     HELOC and second mortgages 331               4                  3                  
Commercial 1,426            79                79                
Consumer 378               12                13                

          Total 21,630$        505$            339$            

December 31, 2021

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2021

(In thousands)
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 LOANS (continued)  
 

 

 

 

 

Unpaid
Recorded Principal Related
Investment Balance Allowance

Impaired loans without a valuation allowance:
Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 2,407$          2,407$         
     Commercial and multi-family 3,190            3,190           
     HELOC and second mortgages 220               220              
Consumer 129               129              
Commercial 370               370              

6,316            6,316           
Impaired loans with a valuation allowance:
Residential 868               868              66$              
Commercial 1,161            1,161           747              

2,029            2,029           813              

          Total 8,345$          8,345$         813$            

Interest
Average Interest Income
Recorded Income Recognized
Investment Recognized on Cash Basis

Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 4,235$          243$            81$              
     Commercial and multi-family 4,519            238              4                  
     HELOC and second mortgages 250               10                4                  
Commercial 1,443            41                37                
Consumer 190               16                5                  

          Total 10,637$        548$            131$            

December 31, 2020

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2020

(In thousands)
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 LOANS (continued)  

The Company has no commitments to advance additional funds in connection with impaired 
loans at December 31, 2021.  

Due to the pandemic having a significant impact on certain industries, the following table 
provides information with respect to our commercial and commercial real estate loans in 
industries directly impacted that are more susceptible to increased credit risk at December 31, 
2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Industry Number of loans Balance
(In thousands)

Residential non-owner occupied 711 597,468$            
Hospitality 32 132,943              
Restaurant 71 22,231                

Country club & marinas 20 11,930                
Fitness & recreation 18 29,485                

Child care services 10 4,919                  
Museums 7 1,590                  

869 800,566$            
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LOANS (continued) 

The following is a summary of past due and non-accrual loans at December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

 
Troubled debt restructures were not significant in 2021 and 2020. 
 
Credit Quality Information 
 
The Company utilizes a ten-grade internal loan rating system for commercial and multi-family 
real estate, construction and commercial loans as follows: 

Loans rated 1 – 6 are considered “pass” rated loans with low to average risk. 

Loans rated 7 are considered “special mention.”  These loans are starting to show signs of 
potential weakness and are being closely monitored by management.   
 
Loans rated 8 are considered “substandard” and are inadequately protected by the current net 
worth and paying capacity of the obligors and/or the collateral pledged.  There is a distinct 
possibility that the Company will sustain some loss if the weakness is not corrected.  

Past Due 90
30-59 Days 60-89 Days Past Due 90 Total Days or More Loans on

Past Due Past Due Days or More Past Due and Still Accruing Non-accrual

Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 179$           783$             177$               1,139$        -$                      1,070$         
     Commercial and multi-family -                  -                    7,078              7,078          -                        10,852         
     HELOC and second mortgages 102             86                 156                 344             -                        242              
Commercial -                  -                    -                     -              -                        1,325           
Consumer 798             358               668                 1,824          -                        708              

          Total 1,079$        1,227$          8,079$            10,385$      -$                      14,197$       

Past Due 90
30-59 Days 60-89 Days Past Due 90 Total Days or More Loans on

Past Due Past Due Days or More Past Due and Still Accruing Non-accrual

Mortgage loans on real estate: 
     Residential 589$           -$                  548$               1,137$        -$                      1,750$         
     Commercial and multi-family -                  -                    -                     -              -                        462              
     HELOC and second mortgages 100             -                    90                   190             -                        180              
Commercial -                  -                    -                     -              -                        1,531           
Consumer 597             693               248                 1,538          -                        378              

          Total 1,286$        693$             886$               2,865$        -$                      4,301$         

December 31, 2021

(In thousands)

December 31, 2020

(In thousands)
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 LOANS (concluded)  

Credit Quality Information (concluded) 
 
Loans rated 9 are considered “doubtful” and have all the weaknesses inherent in those 
classified as substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or 
liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, highly questionable and improbable. 

Loans rated 10 are considered uncollectible and of such little value that their continuance as a 
loan is not warranted. 

On an annual basis, or more often if needed, the Company formally reviews the ratings on 
substantially all commercial and multi-family real estate, construction and commercial loans.  
Annually, the Company engages an independent third party to review a significant portion of 
loans within these segments.  Management uses the results of these reviews as part of its 
annual review process. 

On a monthly basis, the Company reviews the residential real estate, HELOC and second 
mortgage, and consumer portfolios for credit quality primarily through the use of delinquency 
reports.  

The following table presents the Company’s loans by risk rating at December 31, 2021 and 
2020. PPP loans, included within the commercial loan segment, have been excluded from the 
below table as they are fully guaranteed by the SBA.  

 

 

Commercial
and Multi-family

Real Estate Commercial Construction

December 31, 2021

Loans rated 1 - 6 926,162$         154,432$         212,250$         
Loans rated 7 2,087               83                    69                    
Loans rated 8 15,400             1,325               -                       

943,649$         155,840$         212,319$         
December 31, 2020

Loans rated 1 - 6 837,324$         149,285$         81,255$           
Loans rated 7 14,603             5,635               -                       
Loans rated 8 462                  1,531               -                       

852,389$         156,451$         81,255$           

(In thousands)



 

 
 

35 

 Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

5.   LOAN SALES AND SERVICING 

The Company has transferred a portion of its originated commercial loans to participating 
lenders.  The amounts transferred have been accounted for as sales and are therefore not 
included in the Company’s accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  The Company and 
participating lenders share ratably in any gains or losses that may result from a borrower’s lack 
of compliance with contractual terms of the loan.  The Company continues to service the loans 
on behalf of the participating lenders and, as such, collects cash payments from the borrowers, 
and remits payments to participating lenders.  At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company 
was servicing loans for participants aggregating $28,703,000 and $31,555,000, respectively.   

Additionally, the Company continues to transfer a portion of its originated manufactured loans 
to participating lenders.  At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company was servicing loans 
for participants aggregating $34,381,000 and $40,907,000, respectively.  These loans are not 
included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Residential mortgage loans sold and serviced for others are not included in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.  The unpaid principal balances of residential mortgage loans 
serviced for others totaled $1,758,461,000 and $1,164,035,000 at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively.  Certain of these loans were sold with recourse provisions.  At both 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related maximum contingent recourse liability amounted to 
$89,000, which is not recorded in the consolidated financial statements.   

The risks inherent in servicing rights relate primarily to changes in prepayments that result 
from shifts in interest rates.  The fair value of servicing rights was determined using discount 
rates ranging from 9.0% to 12.0% at December 31, 2021 and a weighted average discount rate 
of 12.0% at December 31, 2020. Annual prepayment speeds ranging from 8.1% CPR to 24.8% 
CPR were utilized as of December 31, 2021 and from 12.0% CPR to 23.5% CPR as of 
December 31, 2020. The following summarizes mortgage servicing rights capitalized and 
amortized, along with the aggregate activity in related valuation allowances: 
 

 

Years Ended December 31, 
2021 2020

(In thousands)
Mortgage servicing rights:
    Balance at beginning of year 10,897$  4,190$    
    Additions 10,271    9,312      
    Amortization (4,771)     (2,605)     
    Balance at end of year 16,397    10,897    

Valuation allowances:
    Balance at beginning of year 1,476      -             
    Additions -             1,476      
    Recoveries (1,476)     -             
    Balance at end of year -             1,476      

Mortgage servicing assets, net 16,397$  9,421$    

Fair value of mortgage servicing assets 17,440$  9,487$    
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LOAN SALES AND SERVICING (concluded) 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, contractually specified servicing fees 
included in mortgage banking income, net, amounted to $3,830,000 and $2,074,000, 
respectively. 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, gains on sales of loans amounted to 
$33,306,000 and $33,665,000, respectively, which is included in mortgage banking income. 

6.   PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT  

A summary of the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization of premises and 
equipment follows:    
 

 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
amounted to $3,970,000 and $3,530,000, respectively.  

At December 31, 2021, construction in progress represents costs primarily incurred for 
construction at a new branch location and for the installation of solar panels at multiple 
branch locations.  These projects are expected to be completed and placed in service in 
2022.  At December 31, 2021, there was $191,000 in outstanding commitments related to 
these projects. 

 

 

December 31,
2021 2020

Premises:
    Land 5,414$     4,863$     
    Buildings 34,424     26,182     
    Leasehold improvements 13,823     13,044     
    Construction in progress 3,820       7,400       
Equipment 15,765     13,587     

73,246     65,076     
Less accumulated depreciation and
    amortization (29,768)    (26,281)    

43,478$   38,795$   

(In thousands)
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7.   EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS 

The Bank has a 45% ownership interest in JNK Realty, LLC, which was formed to convert a 
Fall River, Massachusetts, property into 4 separate residential lots and a 34-unit apartment 
complex.  As of December 31, 2021, the building is complete, and all units are leased. The 
Bank’s total investment was $12,185,000 and $4,115,000 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. The Bank invested cash of $8,070,000 and $3,600,000 during 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. There were no equity losses recorded for the year ending December 31, 2021 and 
2020. 

The Bank has a 45% ownership interest in BCBBK, LLC, which was formed to construct The 
Residences at River’s Edge in Fall River, Massachusetts, that consists of 49 residential units 
and a BayCoast Bank branch. The building is expected to be completed in early 2022, and the 
units are in the process of being leased. The Bank’s total investment was $11,311,000 and 
$2,761,000 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Bank invested cash of 
$8,550,000 and $1,300,000 during 2021 and 2020, respectively.  There were no equity losses 
recorded for the year ending December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The Bank has a 45% ownership interest in Oakwood BayCoast WWTF, LLC, which was 
formed to construct a private wastewater treatment facility on a shared site with the Bank. 
With a capacity of 24,000 gallons per day, this company provides wastewater treatment 
services to the Bank. The Bank’s total investment was $1,168,000 and $1,091,000 as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Oakwood BayCoast WWTF, LLC has experienced 
losses over the past five years. Total losses of $38,000 and $317,000 were recorded in 2021 
and 2020, respectively.  

One of the Company’s key management personnel is a managing member of these 
investments; therefore, these investments are considered related parties. 
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8.   DEPOSITS  

A summary of deposit balances, by type, is as follows:    

 
 
 
Brokered deposits included in term certificates at December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to 
$46,770,000 and $61,745,000, respectively. 
 
A summary of term certificate accounts by maturity is as follows:  

 
 
 
 
 

December 31,
2021 2020

Demand deposits 502,689$    375,407$    
NOW 398,260      315,068      
Regular and other savings  379,787      307,111      
Money market deposits 370,178      331,184      
               Total non-certificate accounts 1,650,914   1,328,770   

Term certificates less than $250,000 254,775      299,186      
Term certificates of $250,000 or more 100,438      113,126      
               Total certificate accounts 355,213      412,312      

               Total deposits 2,006,127$ 1,741,082$ 

(In thousands)

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Amount Rate Amount Rate

  Within 1 year 249,038$    0.54% 334,540$    1.09%
  Over 1 year to 2 years 76,694       0.49        53,397       1.53        
  Over 2 years to 3 years 16,780       1.36        3,614         2.14        
  Over 3 years to 4 years 11,385       1.23        12,196       1.63        
  Over 4 years to 5 years 1,316         0.72        8,565         1.41        

355,213$   0.59% 412,312$   1.18%

(Dollars in thousands)
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9. BORROWINGS 

Federal Home Loan Bank  
 
Fixed-rate advances from the FHLB of Boston are as follows:      

 
 
At December 31, 2021, amortizing advances require monthly principal and interest payments of 
$8,000. 

The Company has an available line of credit with the FHLB at an interest rate that adjusts daily. 
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, borrowings under the line were limited to $6,996,000.  There 
were no advances outstanding on the line as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.  Borrowings from 
the FHLB are secured by a blanket lien on first mortgage loans on owner-occupied residential 
property, defined principally as 75% of the carrying value of first mortgage loans on owner-
occupied residential property amounting to $143,161,000 as well as $163,755,000 in 
commercial and multifamily loans and $29,208,000 in HELOC and second mortgage loans as 
of December 31, 2021. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company pre-paid FHLB 
advances of $34.2 million and $64.0 million, respectively, resulting in pre-payment 
penalties of $537,000 and $339,000, respectively, which is included in other general and 
administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Net Income. 
 
Federal Reserve Bank PPPLF advances 
 
There were no borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2021 from the Federal Reserve 
Bank's PPP Loan Facility ("PPPLF"). At December 31, 2020, the Company had 
$120,320,000 in outstanding borrowings from the PPPLF, which carries a rate of 0.35% 
fixed for the term of the corresponding PPP loan. The Company pledged eligible PPP loans 
as collateral for the borrowings. As loans are forgiven or paid down, funds are remitted to 
the Federal Reserve to pay back the advance.  

Weighted Average

Maturing 2021 2020 2021 2020

Within 1 year 8,922$      7,000$     0.40% 0.76%
Over 1 year to 2 years -                18,000     -            2.26         
Over 2 years to 3 years -                15,000     -            2.30         
Over 5 years 5,000        5,000       4.11        4.11         
Amortizing advances
    maturing 2022-2033 826           4,957       3.45        2.26         

14,748$    49,957$   1.83% 2.25%

Amount Rate

(In thousands)
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BORROWINGS (concluded) 
 
Federal Reserve Bank discount window 
 
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has pledged certain qualifying commercial, 
construction, & consumer loans amounting to $103,654,000 and $46,576,000, respectively, 
for access to the discount window advances through the Borrower-In-Custody Program. At 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no outstanding advances under this program.  

 
Other 

The Company also has available unsecured lines of credit with correspondent banks at interest 
rates that adjust daily.  At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has borrowing capacity 
of $59,000,000 and $64,000,000, respectively, and no advances were outstanding under these 
lines of credit.  

The Company has an agreement with the American Financial Exchange, LLC (AFX) that 
enables the Company access to unsecured overnight borrowings with various counterparties.  
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has a credit limit of $339,000,000 and 
$124,000,000, respectively. There were no borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 
2020.  

 
10.   SUBORDINATED DEBT 

On April 30, 2021, the Company issued subordinated debt (the “2021 Debt”) in a private 
placement offering in the principal amount of $45,000,000.  In connection with the issuance 
of the 2021 Debt, the Company incurred $995,000 in issuance costs that were recorded as a 
discount to the 2021 Debt and are amortized, using the straight-line method, over the life of 
the 2021 Debt.   

The 2021 Debt accrues interest at 3.875% per annum for the first five years.  From and 
including May 15, 2026, to the maturity date or early redemption date, the interest rate shall 
reset quarterly to an interest rate per annum equal to the then current three-month SOFR plus 
319 basis points.  Interest on the 2021 Debt will be payable semi-annually on May 15 and 
November 15 of each year through May 15, 2026, and quarterly thereafter on February 15, 
May 15, August 15 and November 15 of each year through the maturity date or early 
redemption date.  The 2021 Debt matures on May 15, 2031 but may be redeemed on any 
scheduled interest payment date beginning on May 15, 2026 and thereafter by the Company, 
in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2021 
Debt to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest. 
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SUBORDINATED DEBT (concluded) 

On November 28, 2017, the Company issued subordinated debt (the “2017 Debt”) in a private 
placement offering in the principal amount of $25,000,000.  In connection with the issuance 
of the 2017 Debt, the Company incurred $734,000 in issuance costs that were recorded as a 
discount to the 2017 Debt and are amortized, using the straight-line method, over the life of 
the 2017 Debt.   

The 2017 Debt accrues interest at 5.875% per annum for the first five years.  From and 
including December 15, 2022, to the maturity date or early redemption date, the interest rate 
shall reset quarterly to an interest rate per annum equal to the then current three-month 
LIBOR rate plus 375 basis points.  Interest on the 2017 Debt will be payable semi-annually on 
June 15 and December 15 of each year through December 15, 2022, and quarterly thereafter 
on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year through the maturity date 
or early redemption date.  The 2017 Debt matures on December 15, 2027, but may be 
redeemed on any scheduled interest payment date beginning on December 15, 2022 and 
thereafter by the Company, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount of the 2017 Debt to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

On July 21, 2016, the Company issued subordinated debt (the “2016 Debt”) in a private 
placement offering in the principal amount of $19,750,000.  On July 30, 2021, the 2016 debt 
was redeemed. 

During both years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, interest expense included $341,000   
and $252,000, respectively, in amortization of issuance costs.   

Under the applicable capital rules of the Federal Reserve Bank, the 2021 Debt and 2017 Debt 
qualify as Tier 2 capital for the Bank subject to certain restrictions. 

11.   INCOME TAXES  

Allocation of the federal and state income taxes between current and deferred portions is as 
follows:  

 

Years Ended December 31, 
2021 2020

(In thousands)
Current tax provision:
    Federal 2,362$   2,598$  
    State 1,191     1,237    

3,553     3,835    
Deferred tax provision:
    Federal 2,630     1,782    
    State 1,241     847       

3,871     2,629    

          Total tax provision 7,424$   6,464$  
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INCOME TAXES (continued) 

The reasons for the differences between the statutory federal income tax provision and the 
provision for income taxes are summarized as follows:  

   
  

 

The components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows:    

 

2021 2020
(In thousands)

Statutory federal income tax rate 6,190$  5,484$  
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
     State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 1,921    1,646    
     Tax exempt income (409)      (485)      
     Tax credits (98)        (12)        
     Dividends received deduction (134)      (121)      
     Tax exempt gain on donated stock (47)        (78)        
     Other, net 1           30         

Provision for income taxes 7,424$  6,464$  

Years Ended December 31, 

December 31,
2021 2020

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
    Allowance for loan losses 6,422$   4,959$   
    Impairment losses on securities available for sale 267        267        
    Defined benefit pension plan - deferred actuarial losses 6,913     6,530     
    Net unrealized loss on securities available for sale 840        -            
    Depreciation and amortization 1,056     768        
    Customer relationship intangible 64          84          
    Derivatives 108        341        
    Other carryovers 114        174        
    Accrued expenses 622        573        
    Net deferred loan fees 382        754        
    Other, net 195        105        

16,983   14,555   
Deferred tax liabilities:
    Employee benefit plans (4,638)    (3,561)    
    Gain on marketable equity securities (5,990)    (3,707)    
    Net unrealized gain on securities available for sale -            (491)       
    Investment in limited partnerships (155)       (167)       
    Deferred gain (833)       (833)       
    Mortgage servicing rights (4,609)    (2,648)    

(16,225)  (11,407)  

         Net deferred tax asset 758$      3,148$   
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 INCOME TAXES (concluded)  

 

A summary of the change in the net deferred tax asset is as follows: 

 

The federal income tax reserve for loan losses at the Company’s base year amounted to 
$2,924,000.  If any portion of the reserve is used for purposes other than to absorb loan losses, 
approximately 150% of the amount actually used (limited to the amount of the reserve) would 
be subject to taxation in the year in which used.  As the Company intends to use the reserve 
only to absorb loan losses, a deferred tax liability of $822,000 has not been provided. 

The Company’s income tax returns are subject to review and examination by federal and state 
taxing authorities.  The Company is currently open to audit under the applicable statutes of 
limitations by the Internal Revenue Service for the years ended October 31, 2018 through 
December 31, 2021.  The years open to examination by state taxing authorities vary by 
jurisdiction; no years prior to 2018 are open.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Years Ended December 31,
2021 2020

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of year 3,148$   3,729$   
Deferred tax provision (3,871)    (2,629)    
Changes reflected in other comprehensive income/loss:

Defined benefit pension plan 383        2,290     
Derivatives (233)       101        

   Securities available for sale 1,331     (343)       

Balance at end of year 758$      3,148$   
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 12.   OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

In the normal course of business, there are outstanding commitments which are not reflected in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  

 Loan commitments  

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal 
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers.  These financial instruments 
include commitments to extend credit and advance funds on outstanding lines of credit.  Such 
commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of 
the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. 

The Company’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of the 
commitments.  The Company uses the same credit policies in making commitments as it does 
for on-balance-sheet instruments.    

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the following financial instruments were outstanding whose 
contract amounts represent credit risk:  

 
 
 

 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no 
violation of any condition established in the contract.  Commitments generally have fixed 
expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  The 
commitments for lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon.  Therefore, the total 
commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  The Company 
evaluates each customer’s credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis.  Funds disbursed under 
commitments to grant loans, construction loans and home equity lines of credit are primarily 
secured by real estate, and commercial loans and lines of credit are generally secured by 
business assets.  

 

 

2021 2020
(In thousands)

Commitments to grant loans 98,860$             102,856$           
Unadvanced funds on construction loans 104,117             55,418               
Unadvanced funds on home equity lines of credit 111,380             80,084               
Unadvanced funds on commercial loans and 
    lines of credit 186,224             118,532             
Standby letters of credit 2,720                 1,709                 
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 OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 

 Loan commitments (concluded) 

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the 
performance of a customer to a third party.  These letters of credit are primarily issued to 
support borrowing arrangements.  The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is 
essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers.  Standby letters 
of credit are generally collateralized by real estate and business assets.  

 Lease commitments  

Pursuant to the terms of non-cancellable lease agreements in effect at December 31, 2021, 
future minimum rent commitments for premises and equipment are as follows:    

 
The leases for premises contain options to extend for periods up to twenty years, the cost of 
which are not included above.   

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to $1,533,000                  
and $1,553,000, respectively. 

 Employment agreements 

The Company has entered into employment agreements with several employees of Priority 
Funding that generally provide for a specified minimum annual compensation and the 
continuation of benefits from the date of execution of the agreements.  The agreements also 
include a non-compete clause that prevents these employees from competing with Priority 
Funding for a period of five years after separation of service.  The expiration dates of the 
Priority Funding agreements are through September 2022. 

 

 

Year Ending
December 31, Amount

(In thousands)
2022 1,455$      
2023 1,287        
2024 1,200        
2025 966           
2026 801           

Thereafter 5,420        

11,129$    
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 OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (concluded) 

 Other contingencies 

Various legal claims also arise from time to time in the normal course of business which, in 
the opinion of management, will have no material effect on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.  

13.  DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES  

Interest Rate Risk Management - Cash Flow Hedging Instruments  

The Company uses short-term funding sources, such as FHLB advances and brokered 
deposits, to fund the Company’s lending and investment activities and other general 
business purposes. These instruments expose the Company to variability in interest 
payments due to changes in interest rates when the short-term funding rolls over. If 
interest rates increase, interest expense increases. Conversely, if interest rates decrease, 
interest expense decreases. Management believes it is prudent to limit the variability of a 
portion of its interest payments and, generally hedges a portion of its variable interest 
payments. To meet this objective, management enters into interest rate swap agreements 
whereby the Company receives variable interest rate payments and makes fixed interest 
rate payments. Management intends on rolling over the short-term funding sources 
through the term of the interest rate swap agreements. 
 
Information pertaining to outstanding interest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow 
hedges is as follows:

 

 

These agreements provide for the Company to receive payments at a variable rate determined 
by a specified index (three-month LIBOR) in exchange for making payments at a fixed rate 
plus a set spread. 

 

2021 2020

Notional amount 30,000$    45,000$    
Weighted average pay rate 2.60% 2.56%
Weighted average receive rate 0.16% 0.64%
Weighted average remaining term in years 0.6            1.1            
Unrealized loss relating to interest rate swap (383)$        (1,211)$    

(Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 



 

 
 

47 

Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)   

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES (continued) 

Interest Rate Risk Management – Non-Hedging Derivatives  
 

The Company manages a matched book with respect to its interest rate derivative 
instruments provided to customers in order to minimize its net risk exposure from such 
transactions. 
 
The Company executes interest rate swaps with certain commercial banking customers to 
facilitate their respective risk management strategies.  These interest rate swaps are 
simultaneously offset with interest rate swaps that the Company executes with a third party, 
thereby minimizing its net risk exposure resulting from such transactions.  These 
derivatives are not designated as hedges.  Changes in the fair value of both the customer 
swaps and the offsetting interest rate swaps are recognized directly in earnings.  During the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized no net holding gain or 
loss related to such derivatives.   
 
The Company has agreements with its interest rate swap derivative counterparties that 
contain a provision whereby if the Company defaults on any of its indebtedness, including 
default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, then 
the Company could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations. 
 
If the Company had breached any of these provisions, it would have been required to settle 
its obligations under the agreements at the termination value.  In addition, the Company 
had cross-default provisions with its commercial customer loan agreements which provide 
cross-collateralization with the customer loan collateral.   
 
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the following interest rate swaps were outstanding: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

With commercial With third-party With commercial With third-party
loan borrowers financial institutions loan borrowers financial institutions

Notional amount 89,751$             89,751$             73,045$             73,045$             
Weighted average rate 3.7% (3.7%) 3.7% (3.7%)
Weighted average remaining term 7.4 Years 7.4 Years 7.9 Years 7.9 Years
Unrealized fair value gain (loss) 234$                  (234)$                 3,824$               (3,824)$              

2021 2020

(Dollars in thousands)
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DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES (continued) 

The variable rate component of these agreements is set at a variable rate plus the prevailing 
three-month LIBOR rate. 
 
Risk Participation Agreements 
 
In 2019, the Company entered into three risk participation agreements with financial 
institution counterparties for interest rate swaps related to loans in which the Company is a 
participant. The risk participation agreements provide credit protection to the financial 
institution should the borrower fail to perform on its interest rate derivative contract with 
the financial institution.  
 
The notional amount of risk participation agreements was $22,104,000 at December 31, 
2021 and 2020. There were no fair value adjustments from risk participation agreements at 
December 31, 2021 or 2020. 
 
Mortgage Banking Derivatives-Interest rate lock commitments  

 
The Company enters into commitments to fund residential mortgage loans at specified 
times in the future, with the intention that these loans will subsequently be sold in the 
secondary market. A mortgage loan commitment binds the Company to lend funds to a 
potential borrower at a specified interest rate and within a specified period of time.  
 
Outstanding interest rate lock commitments expose the Company to the risk that the price 
of the loans arising from exercise of the loan commitment might decline from inception of 
the rate lock to funding of the loan due to increases in mortgage interest rates. If interest 
rates increase, the value of these loan commitments decreases. Conversely, if interest rates 
decrease, the value of these loan commitments increases. The notional amount of rate-
locked mortgage loan commitments at December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $62,161,000 and 
$120,661,000, respectively, with a fair value asset of $546,000 and $3,178,000 
respectively.   
 
Mortgage Banking Derivatives - Forward loan sale commitments 
 
The Company utilizes best efforts and mandatory delivery forward loan sale 
commitments to mitigate the risk of potential decreases in the values of loans held for 
sale and loan commitments that would result from the exercise of the derivative loan 
commitments.  With a mandatory delivery contract, the Company commits to deliver a 
certain principal amount of mortgage loans to an investor at a specified price on or before 
a specified date.  
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DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES (concluded) 

Mortgage Banking Derivatives - Forward loan sale commitments (concluded) 
 
If the Company fails to deliver the amount of mortgages necessary to fulfill the 
commitment by the specified date, it is obligated to pay a “pair-off” fee, based on then-
current market prices, to the investor to compensate the investor for the shortfall.  With 
best efforts commitments, the Company commits to deliver an individual mortgage loans 
of a specified principal amount and quality to an investor if the underlying loan closes.  
Generally, the price the investor will pay is specified prior to the loan being funded.  The 
notional amount of forward loan sale commitments at December 31, 2021 and 2020, was 
$14,021,000 and $28,566,000, respectively, with a fair value asset of $108,000 as of 
December 31, 2021 and a fair value liability of $664,000 as of December 31, 2020.  
 
 

14.  MINIMUM REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS  

The Company (on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital 
requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital 
requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by 
regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s and Bank’s 
financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for 
prompt corrective action, the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that 
involve quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as 
calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and classification are 
also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and 
other factors. Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding 
companies. 

The regulations require a minimum ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets of 8%, 
common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 4.5%, a minimum ratio of Tier 1 
capital to risk-weighted assets of 6% and a minimum leverage ratio of 4% for all banking 
organizations. Additionally, community banking institutions must maintain a capital 
conservation buffer of common equity Tier 1 capital in an amount greater than 2.5% of total 
risk-weighted assets to avoid being subject to limitations on capital distributions and 
discretionary bonuses.  

For regulatory capital purposes, loans made under the PPP are risk-weighted at 0% in risk-
based capital calculations. For the Tier 1 leverage ratio computation, PPP loans pledged to the 
PPPLF are excluded from total average assets. Any PPP loan that is not pledged to the PPPLF 
is included in total average assets for purposes of the Tier 1 leverage ratio calculation. 
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 MINIMUM REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (concluded) 

As of December 31, 2021, the most recent notification from the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for 
prompt corrective action.  

To be categorized as well capitalized, an institution must maintain minimum capital ratios as 
set forth in the following tables. There are no conditions or events since the notification that 
management believes have changed the Bank’s category. 

Management believes, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, that the Company and the Bank 
meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.  

The Company’s and the Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020 are also presented in the following table. 

 
 
 

Minimum
To Be Well

Minimum Capitalized Under
Capital Prompt Corrective

Actual Requirements Action Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

(Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 2021:

Total capital to risk-weighted assets:
    Consolidated 246,472$   12.1% 162,897$  8.0% N/A N/A
    Bank 223,919     11.0     162,219    8.0 202,773$ 10.0%        
Common equity tier 1 capital to
    risk-weighted assets:
    Consolidated 154,622 7.6       91,630      4.5 N/A N/A
    Bank 201,072     9.9       91,248      4.5 131,803   6.5

Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets:
    Consolidated 154,622     7.6       122,173    6.0 N/A N/A
    Bank 201,072     9.9       121,664    6.0 162,219   8.0

Tier 1 capital to average assets:
    Consolidated 154,622     6.9       90,217      4.0 N/A N/A
    Bank 201,072     9.0       89,553      4.0 111,941   5.0

December 31, 2020:

Total capital to risk-weighted assets:
    Consolidated 197,019$   11.7% 134,453$  8.0% N/A N/A
    Bank 187,437     11.2     133,943    8.0 167,429$ 10.0%        
Common equity tier 1 capital to
    risk-weighted assets:
    Consolidated 134,972     8.0       75,630      4.5 N/A N/A
    Bank 169,797     10.1     75,343      4.5 108,829   6.5

Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets:
    Consolidated 134,972     8.0       100,840    6.0 N/A N/A
    Bank 169,797     10.1     100,458    6.0 133,943   8.0

Tier 1 capital to average assets:
    Consolidated 134,972     6.6       81,342      4.0 N/A N/A
    Bank 169,797     8.4       81,287      4.0 101,609   5.0
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  

Defined benefit pension plan  

The Company provides basic and supplemental pension benefits for eligible employees 
through a defined benefit pension plan.  Each employee reaching the age of 21 and having 
completed at least 1,000 hours of service in one twelve-month period beginning with such 
employee’s date of employment, or any anniversary thereof, automatically becomes a 
participant in the retirement plan.  All participants with three years of service are fully vested.  
Information pertaining to the activity in the plan is as follows: 

 
(1) The actuarial loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, was due to an increase in salaries 

and participants as well as an increase in salary scale, inflation, and taxable wage base. This 
was offset by an increase in the discount rate. The actuarial loss for the year ended December 
31, 2020, was due to a decrease in discount rate, increase in salary rates and increase in 
participants.  

(2) Represents the “service buyback” for the Interstate Insurance Agency acquisition.  
 
Actuarial assumptions used to determine the projected benefit obligation are as follows: 

  
 

2021 2020
(In thousands)

Change in benefit obligation:
    Benefit obligation at beginning of year 66,314$  51,270$  
    Service cost 5,017      3,379      
    Interest cost 1,919      1,722      
    Actuarial loss (1) 6,535      13,584    
    Plan amendments (2) 1,084      -              
    Benefits paid (1,807)     (3,641)     
    Benefit obligation at end of year 79,062    66,314    

Change in plan assets:
    Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 71,129    50,205    
    Actual return on plan assets 10,849    9,565      
    Employer contribution 10,000    15,000    
    Benefits paid (1,807)     (3,641)     
    Fair value of plan assets at end of year 90,171    71,129    

Funded status and pension asset at end of year 11,109$  4,815$    

Accumulated benefit obligation at end of year 57,080$  50,345$  

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Discount rate 3.25% 3.00%
Rate of compensation increase 3.75 3.00 0

December 31,
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 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 

Defined benefit pension plan (continued) 

The components of net periodic pension cost are as follows:  

 
 

The service cost component of pension cost is included in salaries and employee benefits 
expense and the remaining components are included in other general and administrative 
expense on the consolidated statements of net income.   
 
Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost are as follows:   

 
 
The discount rate was selected to reflect the expected long-term rate of return based on 
prevailing yields on high quality fixed income investments.  The expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets is based on prevailing yields on high quality fixed income investments 
increased by a premium of 3% to 5% for equity securities. 

 

 

 

 

2021 2020
(In thousands)

Service cost 5,017$   3,379$   
Interest cost 1,919     1,722     
Expected return on plan assets (5,504)    (4,718)    
Recognized net actuarial loss 1,202     733        

2,634$   1,116$   

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Discount rate 3.00%   3.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.00 8.00
Annual salary increase 3.00 3.00

Years Ended December 31,
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 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 

Defined benefit pension plan (continued) 

The Company, through its Investment Committee, selected Plimoth Investment Advisors as 
the defined benefit plan’s investment manager and custodian.  An Investment Policy 
Statement was approved which is consistent with the provisions of the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA).  The policy is also consistent with Modern 
Portfolio Theory practices, which requires sufficient levels of diversification to promote 
maximum investment return per unit of risk taken.  The policy is not only designed to 
diversify market and security risk, but also inflation risk which can deteriorate the value of 
capital over time.  The policy sets a strategic asset allocation mix between stocks, bonds 
and other diversifying assets, along with allowable ranges within each asset class.  The 
policy also includes permitted and prohibited asset classes and security types, along with 
setting minimum asset quality parameters.  The target allocation mix for the portfolio calls 
for an equity-based investment deployment range of 45% to 75% of total portfolio assets, 
fixed income investments from 20% to 40%, short-term from 0-10% and other investments 
(preferred stock, real estate investment trusts (REITs), master limited partnerships (MLPs)) 
from 0% to 35%. 
 
In establishing the above referenced Investment Policy, Plimoth has worked with the Company 
to create a level of expectation on behalf of the Company as to the prudent management of 
plan assets, monitoring of plan assets/holdings, evaluating management of the plan and 
communicating plan activity. 

Plimoth Investment Advisors, in its role as Investment Manager, provides input as to the 
appropriate asset allocation, time horizon, and risk profile.  Utilizing their investment 
discipline and security selection processes, Plimoth shall manage the assets in accordance with 
the Investment Policy Statement and shall report on investment performance and other matters 
impacting the effective management of plan assets.  The overall investment return objective 
should emphasize both a total return in excess of established benchmarks and lower aggregate 
portfolio volatility.  This shall be conducted in a manner consistent with all parameters of the 
Investment Policy Statement. 
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 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 

Defined benefit pension plan (concluded) 

The fair value of the Company’s pension plan assets are summarized below: 

 
 
The plan assets measured at fair value in Level 1 are based on quoted market prices in an 
active exchange market.  Plan assets measured at fair value in Level 2 are based on pricing 
models that consider standard input factors such as observable market data, benchmark yields, 
interest rate volatilities, broker/dealer quotes, credit spreads and new issue data.   
Estimated future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are as 
follows: 

 
 

Total 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

December 31, 2021
Corporate bonds -$                   6,885$    -$           6,885$           
Equity securities 54,418           -             -             54,418           
Mutual funds 19,588           -             -             19,588           
Other 9,280             -             -             9,280             

     Total plan assets 83,286$         6,885$    -$           90,171$            

December 31, 2020
Corporate bonds -$                   6,829$    -$           6,829$           
Equity securities 40,531           -             -             40,531           
Mutual funds 20,008           -             -             20,008           
Other 3,761             -             -             3,761             

     Total plan assets 64,300$         6,829$    -$           71,129$         

(In thousands)

Year Ending
December 31, Amount

(In thousands)

2022 6,824$           
2023 3,167             
2024 4,541             
2025 3,643             
2026 3,426             

2027-2031 13,929           
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 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 

 401(k) plan 

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan, which provides for voluntary contributions by 
participating employees as allowed by federal tax laws.  Under the terms of the plan, an 
employee is eligible for the Company’s Safe Harbor contribution of 3% of the employee’s 
compensation after one year of service and a minimum of 1,000 hours. Total 401(k) plan 
expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to $1,375,000 and 
$1,204,000, respectively. 

Nonqualified deferred compensation plan 

The Company has a nonqualified executive deferred compensation plan, which provides for a 
select group of management or highly compensated employees to participate in the plan and 
make voluntary pre-tax contributions, which are 100% vested.  Under the terms of the plan, the 
Company can make discretionary contributions, which vest ratably over 5 years.  The 
corresponding invested assets are held in Rabbi Trusts which are included in other assets on 
the consolidated balance sheets. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the 
Company’s expense amounted to $1,049,000 and $300,000, respectively. 

 Supplemental executive retirement plan 

The Company has a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan which provides for certain of the 
Company’s executives to receive monthly benefits upon retirement, subject to certain 
limitations as set forth in the Plan.  The present value of these future benefits is accrued over 
the executives’ terms of employment and the expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020 amounted to $618,000 and $322,000, respectively.   

 Supplemental director retirement plan 

The Company has adopted an unfunded Supplemental Director Retirement Plan which 
provides for all the Company’s Directors to receive annual benefits upon retirement, subject to 
certain limitations set forth in the Plan. 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit 
obligation amounted to $2,039,000 and $1,718,000, respectively. 
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 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (concluded) 

Supplemental director retirement plan (concluded) 

The discount rates used in determining the projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2021 
and 2020 were 2.40% and 1.85%, respectively.  The fee inflation assumption used to 
determine the projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 2.00%. 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, both the Company contributions and benefits 
paid amounted to $141,000 and $114,000, respectively, and net periodic retirement costs 
amounted to $171,000 and $218,000, respectively.  The discount rate used in determining net 
periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 1.85% and 2.80%, 
respectively. 
 
Projected benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are as 
follows: 

 
 

Split-dollar life insurance agreements 

In connection with the supplemental retirement plans, the Company has purchased life 
insurance policies applicable to certain executive officers and directors included in the 
aforementioned plans.  The policies are reflected on the consolidated balance sheets at cash 
surrender value.  Increases in cash surrender value are reflected in other income in the 
consolidated statements of net income.  The Company is the sole owner of these life insurance 
policies.  The Company has entered into agreements with these executives and directors 
whereby the Company will pay to the executives and directors’ estates or beneficiaries a 
portion of the death benefit that the Company will receive as beneficiary of such policies.  The 
cost of these agreements is being accrued over the respective service periods. 

 

Year Ending
December 31, Amount

(In thousands)

2022 130$              
2023 172                
2024 206                
2025 206                
2026 206                

2027-2031 1,004             
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16.  FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

 Determination of fair value 

The Company uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets 
and liabilities.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Fair 
value is best determined based upon quoted market prices.  However, in many instances, there 
are no quoted market prices for the Company’s various assets and liabilities.  In cases where 
quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value 
or other valuation techniques.  Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions 
used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows.  Accordingly, the fair 
value estimates may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument.   

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair value 
disclosures for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring 
basis:  

Marketable equity securities and securities available for sale – Fair value measurements 
are obtained from a third-party pricing service and are not adjusted by management.  The 
securities measured at fair value in Level 1 are based on quoted market prices in an active 
exchange market.  Securities measured at fair value in Level 2 are based on pricing 
models that consider standard input factors such as observable market data, benchmark 
yields, interest rate volatilities, broker/dealer quotes, credit spreads and new issue data.  
There were no securities measured at fair value in Level 3. 

Loans held for sale – Fair values are based on commitments in effect from investors or 
prevailing market prices. 

Impaired loans – Fair values for collateral dependent loans are based on the appraised 
value of the underlying collateral considering discounting factors, if deemed appropriate, 
and adjusted for selling costs.  Current appraisals are obtained when it is determined that 
the Company is considering foreclosure.  In instances where a current appraisal is not 
obtained, the most recent appraisal may be discounted based on management’s historical 
knowledge, expertise or changes in market conditions from time of valuation.  Given the 
significance of management’s judgement in discounting the appraisals, these are 
considered Level 3 fair value measurements. 

Interest rate swap agreements – The fair values of interest rate swap agreements are based 
on a valuation model that uses primarily observable inputs, such as benchmark yield 
curves and interest rates and also include the value associated with counterparty credit 
risk.  
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FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)   

Determination of fair value (continued) 

Mortgage banking derivatives - The fair values of interest rate lock commitments and 
forward loan sale commitments are based on fair values of the underlying mortgage 
loans, including servicing values, and the probability of such commitments being 
exercised. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below: 

 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis 
 
The Company may also be required, from time to time, to measure certain other assets and 
liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  These adjustments to fair value usually result from application of 
lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write-downs of individual assets.  
 

Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

December 31, 2021
Assets:
Securities available for sale -$           261,101$   -$           261,101$    
Marketable equity securities 73,028    -            -             73,028        
Loans held for sale -             13,623       -             13,623        
Forward loan sale commitments -             108            -             108             
Interest rate lock agreements -             546            -             546             
Interest rate swap agreements -             234            -             234             

73,028$  275,612$   -$           348,640$    

Liabilities:
Interest rate swap agreements -$       617$          -$       617$           

-$       617$          -$       617$           

December 31, 2020
Assets:
Securities available for sale -$           222,538$   -$           222,538$    
Marketable equity securities 54,840    -            -             54,840        
Loans held for sale -             28,970       -             28,970        
Interest rate lock agreements -             3,178         -             3,178          
Interest rate swap agreements -             3,824         -             3,824          

54,840$  258,510$   -$           313,350$    

Liabilities:
Forward loan sale commitments -$           664$          -$           664$           
Interest rate swap agreements -             5,035         -             5,035          

-$       5,699$       -$       5,699$        

(In thousands)
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FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONCLUDED)   

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis (concluded) 
 
Certain impaired loans were adjusted to the fair value, less costs to sell, of the underlying 
collateral securing these loans resulting in losses. The loss is not recorded directly as an 
adjustment to current earnings, but rather as a component in determining the allowance for 
loan losses. Fair value was measured using appraised values of collateral and adjusted as 
necessary by management based on unobservable inputs for specific properties. 
As of December 31, 2020, the fair value of mortgage servicing rights was less than the 
amortized cost.  Accordingly, the Company recorded a valuation reserve through earnings, 
reducing the carrying value of mortgage servicing rights to fair value.  As of December 31, 
2021, the fair value of mortgage servicing rights exceeded the amortized cost and the valuation 
reserve was reversed. 
Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis are summarized below: 

 
17. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a  
pandemic. Actions taken domestically and across the world to help mitigate the spread of  
the coronavirus have included restrictions on travel, required quarantine, and mandated 
closures of certain types of public places and businesses. The coronavirus and actions 
taken to mitigate the spread of it continue to have an adverse impact on the economies and 
financial markets of the geographical area in which the Company operates.  
 
It is unknown how long the adverse conditions associated with the coronavirus pandemic 
will last and what the complete financial effect will be to the Company. 

Year Ended
December 31, 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Losses

Impaired loans 12,561$    -$                -$                2,461$                     

12,561$    -$                -$                2,461$                     

Year Ended
December 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Losses

Impaired loans 414$         -$                -$                747$                        
Mortgage servicing rights -                -                  9,487          1,476                       

414$         -$                9,487$        2,223$                     

(In thousands)

December 31, 2021

(In thousands)

December 31, 2020
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18.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 28, 2022, which is the date 
the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. There were no 
subsequent events that require adjustment to or disclosure in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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(in thousands) 

 
 

Consolidated Consolidated
Assets BayCoast Priority BayCoast Other Eliminating BayCoast Narragansett Eliminating Narragansett

Mortgage Funding & Sub Bank Subsidiaries Entries Bank Financial Entries Financial

Cash and cash equivalents 34,865$        9,537$           25,315$        22,654$        (63,205)$        29,166$      4,090$        (4,090)$        29,166$         
Securities available for sale, at fair value -                    -                    197,512        53,297          -                     250,809      10,292        -                   261,101         
Marketable equity securities, at fair value -                    -                    71,464          1,564            -                     73,028        -                  -                   73,028           
FHLB stock, at cost -                    -                    1,674            -                    -                     1,674          -                  -                   1,674             
Loans held for sale -                    -                    13,623          -                    -                     13,623        -                  -                   13,623           
Loans, net 13,016          956                1,712,320     -                    (12,967)          1,713,325   4,713          (40)               1,717,998      
Mortgage servicing rights -                    -                    16,397          -                    -                     16,397        -                  -                   16,397           
Bank-owned life insurance -                    -                    30,777          -                    -                     30,777        -                  -                   30,777           
Premises and equipment, net 400               60                  37,986          5,032            -                     43,478        -                  -                   43,478           
Accrued interest receivable -                    -                    5,953            144               -                     6,097          26               -                   6,123             
Net deferred tax asset -                    -                    662               56                 -                     718             40               -                   758                
Goodwill and other intangible assets -                    1,583             19,093          6,500            (4,700)            22,476        -                  -                   22,476           
Equity method investments -                    -                    24,664          -                    -                     24,664        -                  -                   24,664           
Other assets 2,915            163                38,939          1,267            (9,940)            33,344        1,752          1,893           36,989           
Investment in subsidiaries -                    -                    126,917        -                    (126,917)        -                  223,548      (223,548)      (0)                   

51,196$        12,299$         2,323,296$   90,514$        (217,729)$      2,259,576$ 244,461$    (225,785)$    2,278,252$    

Liabilities and Retained Earnings

Deposits -                    -                    2,073,442     -                    (63,225)          2,010,217   -                  (4,090)          2,006,127      
Borrowings -                    -                    14,748          -                    -                     14,748        -                  -                   14,748           
Subordinated debt -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     -                  69,003        -                   69,003           
Warehouse line of credit 12,967          -                    -                    -                    (12,967)          -                  -                  -                   -                     
Other liabilities 11,658          814                31,010          1,638            (14,620)          30,500        (1,580)         1,893           30,813           
               Total liabilities 24,625          814                2,119,200     1,638            (90,812)          2,055,465   67,423        (2,197)          2,120,691      

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 5 and 12)

Retained earnings 26,571          11,485           223,564        88,845          (126,917)        223,548      177,139      (223,588)      177,099         
Accumulated other comprehensive loss -                    -                    (19,468)         (744)              -                     (20,212)       (101)            -                   (20,313)          
               Total retained earnings of Narragansett
                   Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 26,571          11,485           204,096        88,101          (126,917)        203,336      177,038      (223,588)      156,786         

Non-controlling interest in subsidiary -                    -                    -                    775               -                     775             -                  -                   775                
26,571          11,485           204,096        88,876          (126,917)        204,111      177,038      (223,588)      157,561         

51,196$        12,299$         2,323,296$   90,514$        (217,729)$      2,259,576$ 244,461$    (225,785)$    2,278,252$    
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Narragansett Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 

Consolidating Statement of Net Income 
Year Ended December 31, 2021 

(in thousands) 

 

Consolidated Consolidated
BayCoast Priority BayCoast Other Eliminating BayCoast Narragansett Eliminating Narragansett
Mortgage Funding & Sub Bank Subsidiaries Entries Bank Financial Entries Financial

Interest and dividend income:
    Interest and fees on loans 524$       28$              72,660$      -$             (144)$     73,068$      151$          40$           73,259
    Interest on debt securities -             -                  2,832          1,259       -             4,091          49              -               4,140
    Dividend income -             -                  1,449          36            -             1,485          6,000         (6,000)       1,485
    Interest on cash equivalents 7             6                  24               35            (48)         24               18              (18)            24
               Total interest and dividend income 531         34                76,965        1,330       (192)       78,668        6,218         (5,978)       78,908
Interest expense:
    Interest on deposits -             -                  5,878          -               (48)         5,830          -                 (18)            5,812
    Interest on borrowings 122         23                1,175          -               (144)       1,176          -                 -               1,176
    Interest on subordinated debt -             -                  -                  -               -                 3,740         -               3,740
               Total interest expense 122         23                7,053          -               (192)       7,006          3,740         (18)            10,728

Net interest income 409         11                69,912        1,330       0             71,662        2,478         (5,960)       68,180
Provision for loan losses -             -                  6,200          -               -             6,200          -                 -               6,200
Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 409         11                63,712        1,330       0             65,462        2,478         (5,960)       61,980

Other income:
    Customer service fees -             -                  8,206          -               -             8,206          -                 -               8,206
    Net loan servicing fee income (expense) -             -                  532             -               -             532             -                 -               532
    Trust department fees -             -                  -                  5,388       -             5,388          -                 -               5,388
    Insurance and brokerage commissions -             63                1,131          6,045       -             7,239          -                 -               7,239
    Gain on securities available for sale, net -             -                  167             353          -             520             (41)             -               479
    Gain on trading securities, net -             -                  2                 -               -             2                 -                 -               2
    Gain on marketable equity securities, net -             -                  12,551        256          -             12,807        -                 -               12,807
    Gain on sales of portfolio loans -             -                  3,012          -               -             3,012          -                 -               3,012
    Mortgage banking income 25,629    7,440           (5,115)         -               -             27,954        -                 -               27,954
    Bank-owned life insurance income -             -                  1,118          -               -             1,118          -                 -               1,118
    Miscellaneous 1,240      957              1,107          33            -             3,337          (13)             -               3,324
               Total other income 26,869    8,460           22,711        12,075     -             70,115        (54)             -               70,061

Operating expenses:
    Salaries and employee benefits 16,007    3,548           43,208        7,785       -             70,548        114            -               70,662
    Occupancy and equipment 752         129              9,905          775          -             11,561        -                 -               11,561
    Professional fees 142         182              3,518          196          -             4,038          2                -               4,040
    Data processing 748         6                  2,801          52            -             3,607          -                 -               3,607
    Advertising costs 193         52                1,773          72            -             2,090          -                 -               2,090
    Deposit insurance -             -                  1,336          -               -             1,336          -                 -               1,336
    Amortization of intangible assets -             -                  -                  179          -             179             -                 -               179
    Other general and administrative 1,220      684              6,229          767          -             8,900          -                 -               8,900
               Total operating expenses 19,062    4,601           68,770        9,826       -             102,259      116            -               102,375

Income before income taxes 8,216      3,870           17,653        3,579       -             33,318        2,308         (5,960)       29,666

Provision (benefit) for income taxes -             -                  8,166          287          -             8,453          (1,029)        -               7,424

               Net income 8,216      3,870           9,487          3,292       -             24,865        3,337         (5,960)       22,242

Net income attributed to non-controlling interest in subsidiary -             -                  -                  191          -             191             -                 -               191

Net income attributed to Narragansett
     Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 8,216$    3,870$         9,487$        3,101$     -$           24,674$      3,337$       (5,960)$     22,051$      
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